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Key Figures in Accordance with IFRS 

 

As of 31 December 2014 

 

TELES Group  

(in T€) 
1.1.2013 – 

31.12.2013 
1.1.2014 – 

31.12.2014 
Change 

Sales revenue 10,701 11,446 7% 

Gross profit 6,149 6,468 5% 

EBIT (operative) -2,283 -1,384 - 39% 
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Management Report and Group  

Management Report of TELES AG  

Informationstechnologien 

 

TELES and the Market 

The fixed network and mobile communications providers in the developed world 

are facing enormous challenges: Especially the rapid increase in data traffic with 

end devices (smartphones, tablets, etc.) with SaaS services (software as a service, 

such as for instance Office 365) with the internet of things, and specifically the 

so-called over the top service providers (OTT), such as Google, Facebook, 

Youtube, LinkedIn, Skype, Whatsapp, Flickr, or Dropbox – to name only the most 

prominent ones – are aggravating the situation for the telephony providers. In 

this regard, OTT service providers are a blessing and a curse: On the one hand, 

they are providing a vital boost to the demand for broadband mobile and fixed 

line connections and developing new potential areas for carriers. On the other 

hand, investments are required in the infrastructure in order to manage the ex-

ponentially growing data volumes. This is the only way that operators will have 

sufficient capacity for the increasing demand for connectivity, as well as for mo-

bile and ubiquitous access to data and services. 

  

At the same time, telephony providers are being confronted with dropping mar-

gins, as the competition in the developed markets is being driven almost without 

exception on the basis of the price. Hence, financing via higher prices for end 

users has been almost completely eliminated. Carriers are thus facing the chal-
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lenge of having to manage high investments in efficient infrastructures with de-

creasing sales revenues and margins.  

 

If, in light of the growing importance of OTTs, the carriers – whether mobile or 

fixed network – do not want to shrink to the point of becoming mere infrastruc-

ture providers which generate no intelligence and added value whatsoever for 

users via their networks, they have to reconsider their business models. And in 

view of the decreasing importance of fixed networks in the private customer 

business area, the focus is now on the mobile communications operators and 

their future business models: The former text message and mobile telephony 

growth drivers are facing alternative competitors in the IP world, which are rein-

venting the market with more cost effective or even cost-free app-based solu-

tions, such as voice over wi-fi or Whatsapp. What users were communicating by 

text message in the past can also be done conveniently and cost-free via 

Whatsapp or iMessage, while telephony is being processed via Skype. The new 

market players cannot be stopped any longer, and in fact market access for new 

providers is even being promoted by lower entry barriers in the IP world.  

 

For providers of mobile communications, three options are emerging here: Es-

tablishing and expanding their own fixed network or joining up with a fixed net-

work provider (as is the case in Germany for instance with Vodafone through the 

assumption of the cable network Kabel Deutschland) to become an integrated 

telephony provider (a so-called heavy asset), disposing of the network operations 

and repositioning as a service provider or reseller – and finally exiting from the 

market (such as for instance Vodafone withdrawing from the USA and the efforts 

undertaken by T-Mobile for years now to offload its US business). Pure providers 

of mobile communications are going to have a difficult time, with the tendency 

being that they will not be capable of surviving. By contrast, the best prospects 

are seen in the heavy assets, which control and operate fixed line and mobile 

communications networks, in that they expand and provide services based on 

this and develop new sources of income – regardless of how difficult this may be 

for the traditional and comparatively slow carriers to accept. However, they do 
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have to position themselves as integrated providers for B2B and B2C customers 

and generate growth through the vertical integration of services and content. In 

this way, the borders between network operations and the content industry (the 

internet, entertainment and media industries) will become blurred.  

 

In this respect, the need for the carriers to continue investing in their networks 

regardless of the sinking sales revenues and margins is important for TELES, un-

less the carriers intend to radically change their business model and become 

mere network operators (bit pipes) or even abandon the market. The criteria for 

success here are the consistent shutting down of old systems, such as the ISDN 

infrastructures, and of the heterogeneous servicing and cost intensive produc-

tion platforms which developed historically, in favor of IP. Such concepts con-

tribute to a reduction in the operating costs especially, to accelerating product 

development and innovation, as well as to shifting the service provision to exter-

nal partners.  

 

With its infrastructure solutions and products, TELES AG continues to be well po-

sitioned to offer a competitive range of goods to the carriers and profit from the 

emerging trends. This is true for our solutions for the switching systems (Gate-

ways and Softswitches) as well as for new services, such as the Unified Commu-

nications. In this regard, we place utmost value on retaining the infrastructure of 

both the carriers and the end users to the greatest extent possible – as the pro-

tection of their investments not only gives the carriers an advantage in their 

marketing, but also minimizes the outlays for the establishment of a modern IP 

infrastructure. 

 

The core market for the sales activities at TELES AG continues to be Europe, with 

a focus on the German-language regions and countries, which we have been able 

to manage best both technically and culturally for historic reasons. Furthermore, 

we continue to operate in the Middle East and Africa in cooperation with sales 

and technology partners. We are convinced that we can successfully utilize the 

experience we have gained over many years as a European provider and the 
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know-how we have in these regions and profit from the market potential there, 

which is certainly a given: For instance, the German Bitkom Digital Companies 

Association has forecast 2.4 percent growth in sales of software, IT services and 

IT hardware alone for the German ITC market in 2015 – which would mean that 

the growth here is almost one percentage point higher than the overall forecast 

for the GDP growth. The consultants with the Gartner Group expect slight growth 

of 0.7 percent for the global sales with telecom services – and that even though 

the US forecasters are certainly assessing the development on the European 

market skeptically due to the declining sales of mobile end devices. 

 

Sources 

Gartner Group: Quarterly IT Spending Forecast 

http://www.gartner.com/newsroom/id/2959717 (accessed on 11.2.2015) 

Bitkom 

http://www.bitkom.org/de/markt_statistik/64086_81011.aspx (accessed on 

11.2.2015)  
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Access Solutions Business Unit 

The Access Solutions business unit experienced both highs and lows in the finan-

cial year now ended: The sales in the Mobile Gateways product family especially 

have fallen sharply – with the decline already noted in the previous year thus 

continuing. While we did expect declining demand here, the decrease clearly 

proved to be more than was expected by us and was not completely offset with 

new business resulting from the VoIP Gateways.  

 

This was compounded by very slow development in North America: In the past, 

we did not succeed in establishing attractive and active sales partners for the 

indirect sales, capable of acquiring business and developing large-volume pro-

jects. For this reason, we have decided to only pursue the US business on an op-

portunity basis and to discontinue the Mobile Gateways product family in its 

form to date: In spring, the inventories, as well as the marketing rights and the 

right to use the name of the iGATE and vGATE product lines for sales in the so-

called gray market were disposed of to the US-American telecommunications 

service provider UPM. At the same time, a comprehensive development partner-

ship was agreed. In the future, TELES is marketing Mobile Gateways under the 

CELLX brand launched in the USA and focusing on profitable niche markets right 

across the planet.  

 

Meanwhile, we invested heavily in the VoIP Gateways product portfolio: In spring 

2014, we completed the development of the new VoIPBox DSL and commenced 

the marketing. We have developed a new architecture for the VoIPBox BRI and 

PRI, which are already launched on the market, which reduces the product costs 

and increases the performance and capacity of the Gateways even more.  

 

Moreover, an attractive solution has been created for the Shipping market seg-

ment, the marketing of which is to be intensified via network operators in the 

new financial year: Out on the high seas, sailors and other crew members 
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onboard ships are also dependent on having stable, constantly available access 

to data and mobile telephony services. Typical examples of these are the moni-

toring of machines by the Internet, controlling ERP processes via the web, as well 

as downloading messages and weather maps over the Internet. And doing so, all 

of these communications are provided using satellite technology. Which is ex-

pensive on the high seas, but cannot be avoided. But close to the coast and in 

harbors, where ships are often anchored for days on end or cargo has to be un-

loaded, there is now a faster, more stabile and cheaper alternative from TELES: 

With the CELLX Mobile Gateway, the crews onboard ships in harbors and within a 

distance of 40 kilometers off the coast can, in addition to the satellite communi-

cations, now also be connected by mobile communications – and that without it 

costing an arm and a leg, because the usual onshore rates remain applicable in 

these situations. Thus with a Gateway from TELES, there is now an easily man-

ageable extension to satellite communications available.   

 

Reference Customer: inexio 

 

Our new customer inexio is a regional telecommunications service provider with its regis-

tered office in Saarlouis. The company has a constantly growing fiber optic and city net-

work of more than 5,000 kilometers and provides its services to businesses and private 

customers in the European Saar-Lor-Lux region. Many of the existing customers with 

inexio use ISDN services and are not prepared to do without them anymore. Which is the 

reason why inexio has relied on VoIP Gateways from TELES for its switchover to VoIP 

telephony. This has resulted in costs benefits for inexio, which it has been able to pass 

on to its customers. And the users can continue to use their current end devices, such as 

the telephone and even fax machines – with nothing changing as such.  

 



Page 11 of 131 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Carrier Solutions Business Unit 

As expected, many network operators focused on the migration to high-

performance and -capacity Next Generation Networks (NGN). The Carrier Solu-

tions business unit was able to profit from this, with its sales demonstrating clear 

growth – and thus they were completely on target. Four out of five existing cus-

tomers in this business area have made the jump with a TELES Softswitch from 

conventional networks to modern standards, such as IMS, using cost-saving and 

efficient network technology (NGN). Doing so, the Softswitch integrates the cur-

rent iSWITCH systems as Media Gateways (iMGW) and thus ensures that invento-

ry investments do not have to be written off, and instead the network infrastruc-

ture can continued to be used. In this way, carriers establish a telecommunica-

tions infrastructure that can be expanded easily and conveniently and provides 

clearly larger communications capacities at the same time.   

 

In light of the increasing global threat from terror motivated by religious, eco-

nomic or political reasons, the network operators in many countries are being 

confronted by growing requirements from the legislators for the legal monitoring 

and recording of telephone and data connections. In order to be able to monitor 

the communications at the network interconnections as well, TELES has added a 

new service to the Softswitch which can be activated with minimum effort via an 

interface. With the communications monitoring tool, the voice data are convert-

ed by a so-called Lawful Interception Mediation Server from our technology 

partner Utimaco into the format required by the authorities. Lawful Interception 

means the monitoring and recording of telecommunications from suspected or 

accused persons within the limitations prescribed by the legislators. On presen-

tation of a judicial order, service providers and network operators transfer the 

communications data to intelligence services and law enforcement authorities. 

The Utimaco solution offers our softswitch customers additional protection from 

misuse and integrates smoothly into the existing network technology. 
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The further development of the TELES Softswitch, which has now been successful 

for a number of years, as well as new services and functionalities, together with 

the changeover from circuit-switched networks to modern IP protocols, will also 

remain a focal area for the company and its markets in the new financial year. 

Especially because the IP migration has not yet been concluded in many coun-

tries, we expect sustained demand in the company's core markets. 

 

Reference Customer: mgi 

 

The projects concluded over the last year with the Gamtel and Bénin Télécoms 

customers represent impressive examples for how to successfully manage the 

migration from an obsolete and fault-prone infrastructure to a modern tele-

communications network even in economically underdeveloped Africa. Both of 

the carriers were facing the challenge that their decades-old network infrastruc-

tures were becoming old and no longer able to fulfill the requirements for mod-

ern telecommunications services. To achieve this, old switching systems were 

replaced with components from TELES, using a Softswitch as the basis. With the 

result that today the two carriers now have geo-redundant and scalable net-

works. Furthermore, an international gateway was set up for each of them with 

solutions from TELES, through which the telephone and data traffic with other 

countries is transferred and which was set up on the low-price Captura platform 

from our partner Oculeus. Both of the projects were implemented via our Swiss 

partner mgi. 
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Enterprise Solutions Business Unit  

The Enterprise Solutions business unit was able to smoothly continue the suc-

cesses achieved in the previous years, with its sales revenues demonstrating fur-

ther dynamic development. We are delighted with the good progress here in 

terms of the market penetration and acceptance, as well as with the identifica-

tion of attractive market segments and the further development of the portfolio 

to having an integrated Unified Communications (UC) solution – which the mar-

ket is also acknowledging to an increasing extent: The feedback from our existing 

customers, as well as from other interested parties and from our partners, is ex-

cellent. And even our competitors have confirmed that we are progressively suc-

ceeding in being recognized as a UC provider of equal ranking. 

 

At the start of the year, we were able to convince Telecom Liechtenstein for in-

stance with our solution. Thus we have been able to gain yet another former 

monopolist as a customer. In view of the disproportionately more complex and 

mature network architecture of the so-called incumbents, this represents a tre-

mendous accolade for the capacity and performance of our application server-

based portfolio of solutions.  

 

Moreover, with the expansion of our UC solution to include rich presence func-

tions, we have reached a further milestone in the development of the portfolio. 

In this way, step by step, the performance and capacity of our solution is ap-

proaching that of incomparable larger UC providers operating on a global scale.  

 

A further highpoint over the last year was the expansion of our Mobile Centrex 

solution with our T-Mobile Austria customer. The TELES Voice Application Server 

now also supports SMS mobile origination. This permits SMS text messaging ser-

vices to also be offered in the UC solution's single number concept.  
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In addition, with Hospitality we have identified a further attractive market seg-

ment for hosted voice services, for which we have a mature communications so-

lution with our Application Server, capable of completely fulfilling the unique re-

quirements of hotel guests and operators.  

 

The constant expansion of the IP and Mobile Centrex functions also demon-

strates that we see a great degree of confidence in the further development of 

the business area and high market potential. Modern UC solutions are not some 

short-lived trends, and in fact they first establish the essential infrastructure for 

modern and efficient work.  

 

Reference Customer: TLI 

 

Telecom Liechtenstein is the former monopolist in the Alpine country and has 

the task of providing telecommunications services – including international con-

nectivity – and broadband connections for retail customers and competing tele-

phone providers. Extensive investments in their switching systems were required 

as the existing infrastructure was becoming obsolete and the support provided 

by the manufacturers for several core elements had been discontinued. TELES 

won the contract: The complete ISDN network and existing customers were mi-

grated to IP. VoIP Gateways and Softswitches from TELES were integrated as new 

components for the network interconnection, an international Gateway was set 

up in order to be linked to the Swiss networks, and the TELES Application Server 

is now being used as a keystone for providing modern TC services from the 

cloud.  
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Economic Position  

2014 was again dominated by the restructuring of the TELES Group. Our inter-

connection and UC solutions are certainly well-suited for also equipping major 

telecommunications providers with an integrated portfolio that offers them a 

competitive advantage. Yet for that, we did not succeed in also converting these 

strengths into sales revenues. This can be traced back to a recognizable sales 

weakness on our part which has prevented us from successfully marketing this 

powerful and integrated product portfolio, i.e. utilizing the existing customer 

contacts and generating additional business with new product lines or position-

ing ourselves with new customers and recognizing changes to the market in a 

timely manner.  

 

Among others, these are also factors which explain why we did not fulfill the 

2014 forecast set in the previous year in two fundamental points: Political unrest 

on the one hand, as well as a strategy refocus and reorganization on the other 

hand, led to a situation where two of the most important customers of the Ac-

cess Solutions business unit did not fulfill the expectations which formed the ba-

sis for our sales forecasts with the VoIPBox DSL product line, with concrete pro-

ject plans postponed for the foreseeable future. And the sales in North America 

were also ultimately less than we had expected.  

 

Unfortunately we did not succeed in taking countermeasures in a timely manner 

with other product lines or in other regions to compensate for the faltering or 

lack of business here. The result was that the Access Solutions business unit thus 

had clearly lower sales compared to the previous year – which fundamentally 

contributed to the non-achievement of the forecast breakeven result for the 

complete company despite the growth in the sales revenues. 

 

Thus, the rectification of the sales and marketing weaknesses remains a focal 

area: Consequently – and that over the long-term as well – a honing of the sales 
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strategy is required: For historic reasons, TELES has not focused on its domestic 

markets in Europe and thus also not on the so-called tier 1 carriers, the former 

telecommunications monopolists and multinational carriers. However this situa-

tion can also be traced back to the success of the previously high-margin Mobile 

Gateways product family.  

 

In order to stabilize the company, it is necessary to address tier 1 carriers more 

powerfully and to focus on larger projects: TELES is enhancing its efforts espe-

cially to engage in and foster contacts and discussions with major carriers and to 

utilize sales partners as well in this regard in order to achieve faster market pen-

etration. However, a period of time is required for this tactic to bear fruit, before 

the first projects are lined up and have been negotiated and implemented.  

 

The following notes on the net worth, financial and earnings position are related 

to the consolidated financial statements to the extent that no reference to the 

annual financial statements is expressly provided. 

 

Sales Revenue 

 

At approx. € 11.5 million, the sales revenue bounded upwards by more than sev-

en percent in the reporting year. The primary reason for the sales increase is the 

repositioning of the business with access technology, which has been completely 

aligned to the migration from ISDN to higher capacity and performance IP net-

works. During this process, the iGATE and vGATE Mobile Gateway product fami-

lies together with the related intellectual property were sold to the US American 

telecommunications service provider UPM. 

 

Furthermore, hardly any noteworthy momentum occurred in the USA. For this 

reason, it was decided in the third quarter to no longer continue the business 

there in its form to date, after having not succeeded over the last few years in 

placing the sales with access solutions for business customers on a healthy foot-

ing. The sales revenues from VoIP and Mobile Gateways (Access Solutions) 
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amounted to approx. € 3.7 million at year-end and were thus 14 percent below 

the previous year. 

 

The development in the other business areas demonstrated upward growth. The 

Enterprise Solutions business area was able to smoothly continue the successes 

achieved in previous years: It proved possible to convince Telecom Liechtenstein, 

a tier 1 carrier albeit a smaller one, to rebuild its complete network with solu-

tions from TELES. Overall, sales of € 3.5 million were generated in this business 

area, achieving a 17 percent increase over the previous year. 

 

In the Carrier Solutions business area, the sales at year-end amounted to € 4.3 

million after € 3.4 million in the previous year. This represents a plus of 24 per-

cent.  

 

Costs 

 

Thanks to very diligent cost management, a decrease in the administration costs 

from approx. € 2.2 million to € 1.9 million was achieved. Likewise, the sales and 

marketing expenses dropped slightly from 3.5 to € 2.9 million. The research and 

development costs increased minimally to € 3 million. 

 

Result 

 

Meanwhile, the operative loss (EBIT, operative) shrank by € 900,000 to € 1.4 mil-

lion. 

 

The other income, which resulted from currency effects as well as from the re-

lease of provisions in the previous year, fell from € 1.3 million to € 0.4 million. At 

the same time, the other expenses increased by € 0.4 million to € 0.6 million due 

to negative currency effects. Thus the operating result (EBIT) amounted to minus 

€ 1.7 million (previous year: minus € 1.1 million) at the end of the year. 
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Special effects which still had a positive impact on the result in the previous year, 

such as for instance the disposal of the remaining shares in the electronics re-

tailer Gravis, did not recur in the reporting period. Consequently, the financial 

income declined powerfully and the result from shareholdings dropped to zero. 

Through this, the result before taxes from the continuing operations slipped into 

negative territory in the 2014 financial year and amounted to minus € 1.8 million. 

In the annual financial statements of TELES AG, an annual net loss of € 1.2 million 

(previous year: annual net profit of € 0.5 million) is reported. 

 

Equity and Liabilities 

 

The balance sheet total of the TELES Group decreased by € 1,372 million com-

pared to the previous year. In light of the company's continuing losses, the losses 

carried forward (revenue reserves) grew to € 46.8 million. The total liabilities of € 

14.8 million are at the same level as in the previous year. 

 

In the annual financial statements of TELES AG, a deficit of € 0.4 million not cov-

ered by equity (previous year: equity € 0.8 million) has arisen due to the annual 

net loss of € 1.2 million. 

 

Compared to the previous year, the balance sheet totals of TELES Group were 

slightly lower by € 1,372 million. In light of the company's continuing losses, the 

losses carried forward (revenue reserves) grew to € 46.8 million. Following the 

partial release of provisions, the total liabilities decreased minimally to € 14.8 

million. 

 

In the annual financial statements of TELES AG, a deficit of € 0.4 million not cov-

ered by equity (previous year: equity € 0.8 million) has arisen due to the annual 

net loss of € 1.2 million. 
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Liquidity and Assets 

 

The company's liquidity continues to remain very tight: The loan granted by the 

majority shareholder in 2014 to finance the operative business was partly drawn 

down in the second half of the year. An unused loan entitlement of € 0.4 million 

remains here. The assets of the TELES Group at yearend consist primarily of 

trade receivables at an amount of € 1.2 million, inventories at an amount of € 0.9 

million and cash and cash equivalents at an amount of € 0.4 million. The non-

current assets decreased slightly to € 0.1 million. 

 

For more in-depth information, please see the details provided in the "Financ-

ing/Going Concern" section. 
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Human Resources  

At year-end, TELES AG accounted for 87 employees at its business locations in 

Berlin, Vienna and the USA. Thus the number of staff employed increased slightly 

over the year. At the business location in Vienna, the services team especially 

was expanded, while the personnel levels were reduced in the US sales area fol-

lowing the disappointing development there. The fluctuation in staff continues to 

remain low. 

 

Furthermore in the financial year now ended, we invested specifically in the 

training of young employees: In addition to the 87 members of the workforce, 

TELES employs numerous staff completing their university education or profes-

sional training: In the context of a dual study program in cooperation with Berlin 

School of Economics and Law (HWR), seven students were employed at our 

headquarters on the balance sheet reporting date of 31 December 2014. Six of 

the students are taking computer science studies, while one student is attending 

business studies with a focus on service management. Thus the number of stu-

dents with the company has more than tripled. Furthermore in the 2014 training 

year, a second employee began her training in office management. 

 

No changes occurred in the Management Board in 2014: Professor Dr.-Ing. 

Sigram Schindler (Chief Executive Officer, CEO) and Mr. Oliver Olbrich (Chief Op-

erating Officer, COO) continue to form the two-person Management Board. 
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Report on Opportunities and Risks 

Companies Aggressively Pressing Ahead with Innovations 

 

The telecommunications market in the developed countries of the world is satu-

rated. There is almost no noteworthy growth that could result from the sus-

tained momentum for an upgrading of the networks. Likewise, the mobile com-

munications market is saturated, with almost every citizen in the countries of the 

western world now owning their own mobile phone, together with an internet 

connection in just about every household. Any innovations are mostly coming 

from the manufacturers of the end devices, while the quality of the networks, 

and especially of the mobile communications networks, comes second in the 

eyes of the end users when selecting a network operator. The deregulation of 

the telecommunications markets is playing its part as well and leading to a situa-

tion whereby the churn rate is racing upwards and the number of market players 

is growing, while the sales and income generated by the operators are shrinking 

radically. Many network operators are not even coming close to maintaining the 

sales and profit levels they had grown accustomed to over the years. 

 

And yet these developments do hold some potential for network operators, as 

well as major opportunities for equipment suppliers such as TELES: The tele-

communications companies are responding to the markets, which are stagnating 

at best, with innovations intended to succeed in retaining their customers and 

even develop new sources of income in the most favorable scenario. The aggres-

sive development and marketing of new services such as Unified Communica-

tions, the networking with cable TV providers and the vertical integration of con-

tent suppliers all hold the promise of new growth. For TELES, this means new 

opportunities for its sales and results – especially in the field of Unified Commu-

nications (UC), with the merging of communications media such as fixed line and 

mobile telephony, faxes and email into a uniform application environment. Net-

work operators which focus their efforts on such convenience services are able 
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to set themselves apart from the competition and succeed on the market with 

for instance an improved availability of subscribers – such as of  

teleworkers for example. For end users, efficient processes and better separa-

tion of work and professional life are what count. 

 

TELES has recognized these opportunities and is focusing in its development ac-

tivities on new, close to the market services, which also help the company to de-

velop new markets and establish contacts especially with the so-called tier 1 car-

riers, the former monopolists in the regulated markets. 

 

Risk Report 

 

Business activities are fundamentally exposed to risks as well. For instance, 

geopolitical and geostrategic conflicts can also have a sensitive dampening 

impact on the demand in regions that are not directly involved in them. The 

events on the financial markets and non-balanced state budgets especially in 

several European countries are depressing economic activity and also having a 

negative impact on the economic development of the company. Added to this 

are new suppliers capable of threatening the market position of TELES. When 

considering the risks, we differentiate between business environment, product, 

service and technology risks, human resources, regulatory, currency, financial, 

interest rate and IT risks, as well as other risks. TELES does not see any acute risk 

situation at present. However the Management Board cannot exclude 

deteriorations in the macroeconomic environment for instance, which would 

also burden the sales and earnings position of the company. They can 

additionally aggravate the risk situation and reduce opportunities as the case 

may be. 

 

Business Environment Risks 

 

For TELES AG, business environment risks result from economic conditions and 

fluctuations in demand, as well as from price changes and from the dependence 

on suppliers and contract manufacturers. The uncertainties in the eurozone, as 
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indeed the precarious political and economic situation in the Mediterranean re-

gions of Europe, can significantly weaken the demand in several of TELES' do-

mestic European markets. Activities in the other markets beyond the core DACH 

and European markets do limit the impacts of demand shortfalls, however they 

are not able to completely mitigate the risks. In this way, reliable forecasts for the 

further development of TELES AG are grievously impeded. 

 

The competition in several markets is aggravating the ability of small and mid-

sized providers in particular, such as TELES, to absorb the pressure on prices es-

pecially on the part of the network operators. TELES mitigates this development 

with unique services which limits switching to competitors. For instance, it is not 

always possible to pass on price increases on upstream products to the custom-

ers, which occasionally weakens the competitive position. We mitigate procure-

ment risks by utilizing coordinated purchasing, by agreeing long-term supply 

agreements, by having tight cooperation with suppliers and by continuous im-

provements to the procurement management. Yet for that, it cannot be guaran-

teed that no supply difficulties will arise in the future, that the processing of pro-

jects does not get delayed and that the business development is significantly im-

pacted by this.  

 

Furthermore in order to safeguard its development and production, TELES also 

avails of competing suppliers in the procurement markets. In several areas how-

ever, it is in fact barely feasible to obtain the same quality products from alterna-

tive suppliers. This entails heightened purchasing, price and marketing risks 

among others. 

 

Product, Service and Technology Risks 

 

Product, service and technology risks rank among the most significant risks to 

which TELES is exposed. Product risks are caused by the delayed development, 

acceptance and/or delivery of products, as well as by product faults. Regardless 

of the fact that the market is saturated, the telecommunications industry is char-



Page 24 of 131 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

acterized by short innovation cycles for services which permit the network opera-

tors to tap into and develop new customer sources. This calls for a powerful 

commitment on the part of TELES with regard to observing and analyzing the 

market, as well as in its development. Our earnings position is fundamentally 

dependent on our ability to adjust to changing markets and their requirements, 

to develop and launch new marketable products at a quick pace, to consistently 

optimize our development processes and to decrease the costs of developing 

and producing new products with higher quality and reliability.  

 

Likewise, the on-schedule completion of agreed installations and other services 

at the expected quality level also represents essential success factors for TELES. 

This is compounded by the fact that service level agreements with our customers 

represent a significant percentage of our sales, and their non-fulfillment or inad-

equate servicing can result in immediate damage to the company from claims for 

compensation, follow-up improvements or the loss of sales. For this reason, the 

service quality is permanently evaluated in a timely manner and improved where 

necessary. We actively mitigate risks resulting from product deficiencies as well 

as liability risks by means of careful development and reliable quality controls. 

 

Moreover, the sales revenues and results can be negatively impacted by invest-

ments in technologies which do not prove to be viable and marketable, and 

which are not introduced in a timely manner. 

 

Personnel Risks 

 

As is the case with every other highly specialized knowledge and development 

intensive company, TELES is exposed to unique personnel risks resulting from 

the departure of employees. The employees' know-how in many functional areas 

represents capital for TELES. The risk consists of the fact that with the departure 

of employees, corresponding knowledge and experience can also be lost, and 

processes come to a halt as a result. For this reason, the company focuses espe-

cially on the long-term loyalty of the staff to the company, in order to keep the 
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fluctuation low. Moreover, TELES recruits committed young staff through its co-

operative activities with universities in the context of dual study courses. 

 

Regulatory Risks  

 

The telecommunications sector continues to be statutorily regulated in many 

countries with relevant markets. In individual cases, official regulations or 

amendments to such regulations can significantly increase the operative costs 

and/or impact on our sales revenue. Furthermore, amendments to tax laws and 

regulations could lead to higher tax outlays and/or impact on the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities.  

 

Currency Risk  

 

Because TELES generates part of its sales revenue and procures some materials 

outside the European Monetary Union, the impacts of currency fluctuations on 

our results cannot be excluded in situations where cash flows occur in a different 

currency to the euro. The risk is reduced by settling business transactions in the 

functional currency wherever possible. In those cases which are not invoiced and 

settled in the functional currency, TELES reserves the right to utilize hedging in-

struments. 

 

Financial and Interest Rate Risks  

  

Payment delays and defaults, as the case may be, have problematic impacts on 

the already tight liquidity of TELES AG. Yet for that, TELES AG is not directly de-

pendent on any individual customers. The company generated a volume 

amounting to 15% of its total sales with its largest single customer in the 2014 

financial year. 

 



Page 26 of 131 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Fundamentally, TELES assesses customers and projects in advance and reduces 

financial risks by means of regularly agreeing to advance payments and with the 

help of payment securing instruments as the case may be. 

 

The interest rate risk for the TELES company results exclusively from interest-

bearing investments and from increasing interest rates, which could put signifi-

cant pressure on the company's liquidity. 

 

IT Risks 

 

The development and quality assurance of products, as indeed all the other pro-

cesses at TELES AG, are highly dependent on IT hardware, software and systems, 

including their availability and reliability. Likewise, data are exposed to external 

risks resulting from infiltration, malware, unauthorized access to telecommunica-

tions networks and servers, as well as pirated copies. We mitigate these risks 

through continuous improvements in the security of our systems, as well as 

through redundant hardware and restrictions on access. 
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Financing/Going Concern 

The TELES AG liquidity continues to be very tight. Despite the welcome develop-

ment in the sales revenue, the available cash remains limited. In order to bridge 

financing shortfalls, the loan agreed with the majority shareholder in March 2014 

was partly drawn down. € 400,000 of this loan are still available to bridge finan-

cial bottlenecks.  

 

A change in the sales strategy represents one reason for the continuing con-

straints here: By focusing on the so-called tier 1 carriers – the former national 

telecommunications monopolists and their major competitors where appropri-

ate – as well as on niche markets for Gateways and on modern UC solutions, 

changes have also occurred in the sales cycles: Projects which were clear and 

manageable in terms of their complexity and decision-making are being replaced 

with considerably larger ones, as well as with projects which involve longer ten-

dering and decision-making processes, and the implementation of which re-

quires significantly more time. We are completely aware that this situation also 

entails financing bottlenecks because the conclusion of the projects extends far 

into the future, and we regard this as a challenge. However, it is a necessary ac-

companying factor in achieving the jump to becoming a solutions provider capa-

ble of engaging successfully with internationally operating carriers. The future of 

TELES AG depends to a very fundamental extent on how quickly it succeeds in 

establishing business relations with these carriers in the future and implement-

ing clearly more challenging and demanding projects at amounts in the mid to 

high single-digit millions. 

 

In April 2015, the majority shareholder gave a further loan commitment of EUR 

1.0 mill in addition to the funds already provided in order to be able to close any 

further gaps in the financing. The management board considers this loan com-

mitment to be adequate in order to cover the anticipated financial requirements 

up to at least mid 2016.  
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The business planning naturally comprises risks and uncertainties. It is based on 

current assumptions, expectations, estimates and projections of TELES which 

were taken into account to the best of the knowledge and belief of those respon-

sible, having regard to commercial principles. To such extent, deviations from the 

plan cannot be ruled out. Moreover, there still remain uncertainties in the fore-

casts, since it cannot be ruled out that the consequences of the financial crisis 

might still have effects on our customers. 

 

The continued existence of the company depends upon there being no sustained 

shortfall in the budgeted sales for the coming months, and upon the outstanding 

financial resources under the loan commitment given by the majority share-

holder being adequate or, if necessary, raised." 
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Forecast 

The basis for our assessment for 2015 consists of having stabile macroeconomic 

conditions, the expectation that the recognizable boost in the demand for mod-

ern telecommunications solutions, such as Unified Communications, continues 

and that the Access Solutions business unit has now bottomed out after the un-

expectedly severe decline in 2014. The development outlined here is subject to 

opportunities and risks which are presented in the Report on Opportunities and 

Risks. 

 

2015 is going to be a challenging year: In order to increase the visibility of TELES 

and expand its presence on the market, we will clearly boost our sales personnel, 

intensify our sales partnerships and consistently expand our marketing. At the 

same time, we are aware that the sales and marketing activities can only flourish 

and visibly bear fruit over the long-term – and to that extent, we will only pro-

gressively observe success in the sales and in the result. 

 

Beyond question, there is also a growing requirement for high-performance and 

-capacity IP-Centrex and Unified Communications solutions and that in the DACH 

core market especially – as is demonstrated by the consistent and dynamic de-

velopment of the enterprise solutions business area over the last few years. UC 

solutions represent one of the most important themes for the industry in nu-

merous studies, specialist conferences and trade shows. From today's perspec-

tive, the favorable economic prospects should provide a further increase in the 

demand for UC solutions in the DACH core market in 2015. And we are also ex-

pecting that in the other European markets, UC solutions will progressively be-

come accepted by carriers in order for them to be able to defend or expand their 

market shares with new services. Furthermore in the new financial year, we will 

advance the marketing of the new hospitality market segment, intensify the con-

tacts with the so-called tier 1 carriers, the former monopolists, and increase our 

efforts to promote successfully concluded projects, in order to arouse market 
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interest. We assume that we will record growth in the lower double-digit range 

by the end of the financial year 2015. 

 

After the Carrier Solutions business unit achieved a successful turnaround in 

2014, we intend to make every effort in the new year to stabilize the business 

with interconnection and peering solutions and to promote future-proof and 

failsafe solutions for the IP migration. From our viewpoint, growth in a high sin-

gle-digit range is certainly achievable in a market that is stagnating overall. 

 

Following the massive slump in the business with access technologies (Access 

Solutions) especially with Mobile Gateways and after the disappointing develop-

ment in sales in the USA, we are going to re-evaluate the portfolio and further 

develop it in a targeted manner. Ultimately, we intend to focus on profitable 

market segments and on niche markets especially where we see profitable appli-

cation opportunities for our products and solutions. The reorientation of the 

business unit will necessitate enormous efforts in 2015. We assume that we will 

succeed in maintaining the sales in this business area at a level comparable to 

the previous year. 

 

In view of the growing investments in personnel and other areas, we expect that 

overall the sales revenue will remain at the level in the previous year and a slight 

improvement in profitability will be achieved in 2015 compared to the previous 

year. 
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Supplementary Report 

On 7 January 2015, with effect from 31 December 2014, the company Sigram 

Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, as shareholder of TELES AG, declared 

subordination of claims arising from loans it had granted (TEUR 806). 

 

In both March and April 2015, sums of TEUR 200 were drawn under the umbrella 

loan agreement of 11 March 2014 with SSBG. 

 

On 27 April 2015, SSBG granted to TELES another umbrella loan agreement of 

TEUR 1,000. 

 

Apart from this, no further special occurrences have arisen since the close of the 

business year. 
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Key Figures of the TELES Group in  

Accordance with IFRS 

 

TELES Group 

(in K€) 

01.01.2013 – 31.12.2013 01.01.2014 – 31.12.2014 

Sales revenue 10,701 11,446 

Gross profit  6,149 6,378 

Operating result/EBIT -1,136 -1,657 

Financial result and other 

shareholdings result 
1,205 -123 

EBT from continuing operations 69 -1,780 

Taxes on income -736 -5 

Result from continuing opera-

tions 
805 -1,775 

Discontinued operations 648 0 

Annual net profit/loss 1,453 -1,775 
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Key Figures of TELES AG in Accordance 

with the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) 

TELES AG  

(in K€) 

01.01.2013 – 31.12.2013 01.01.2014 – 31.12.2014 

Sales revenue 10,535 11,343 

Gross profit  5,703 5,961 

Operating result -740 -1,180 

Income from securities held as 

financial assets 
340 15 

Interest result -5 -41 

Result of the ordinary business 

activities 
-405 -1,206 

Taxes on income -890 -4 

Annual net profit/loss 485 -1,202 
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Internal Control System 

Pursuant to Sec. 289 Para. 5 and Sec. 315 Para. 2 No. 5 HGB, TELES AG is obliged 

to describe in the (consolidated) management report the fundamental features 

of the internal control and risk management system in relation to the (group) 

accounting processes. The scope and structure of the accounting related internal 

control and risk management system, as well as its adjustment to specific re-

quirements of TELES AG, are at the discretion and under the responsibility of the 

Management Board. Accordingly, the TELES Group has established integrated 

"risk management" in its business processes. Doing so, the subsidiaries are re-

sponsible for the scope, form and contents of their respective risk management 

systems. The monitoring and coordination of the group-wide risk management 

system is the responsibility of group management. The regular and systematic 

identification, quantification and assessment of the respective relevant risks and 

security systems are part of the risk reporting by the subsidiaries to the Group 

management. The assessment of the risks is based on the amount and the prob-

ability of the occurrence of potential damages. 

 

Description of the Internal Control System 

 

The accounting related internal control system of TELES AG comprises all of the 

principles, processes and measures to secure the effectiveness, efficiency and 

propriety of the accounting, as well as to secure the compliance with the appli-

cable legal regulations. 

 

Defined internal controls are embedded in the accounting processes based on 

risk aspects. The accounting related internal control system comprises both pre-

ventive and detective controls, which include IT-supported and manual reconcili-

ations, plausibility tests, the separation of functions, the two sets of eyes princi-

ple and general IT checks, such as access authorization to IT systems. 



Page 35 of 131 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Within the scope of the organizational, controlling and monitoring structures de-

fined in TELES AG, the internal control system supports the recording, prepara-

tion and assessment of company related facts and circumstances, together with 

their proper and correct presentation in the consolidated financial accounts. 

 

The controlling of the accounting processes is conducted by the group account-

ing section. Laws, accounting standards and other announcements are continu-

ously analyzed with regard to their relevance and impacts on the annual financial 

statements. The Group companies are responsible for ensuring the compliance 

with the proper and prompt processing of their accounting related processes 

and systems and are supported in this by the Group accounting section. The ac-

counting related internal control system as described is enhanced by controls on 

corporate levels effected by the highest decision-making bodies. 

 

However, personal discretionary decisions, incorrect controls, criminal acts or 

other circumstances cannot, due to the nature of the matters, be excluded and 

then result in restricted effectiveness and reliability of the internal control sys-

tem and the risk management system as applied. Thus the group-wide applica-

tion of the systems utilized can also not guarantee with absolute certainty the 

correct, complete and prompt recording of facts and circumstances in the con-

solidated financial accounts. 

 

The statements provided are related only to the subsidiaries included in the con-

solidated financial statements of TELES AG, for which TELES AG is in a position to 

determine either direct or indirect their financial and monetary policy in order to 

benefit from the activities of these companies. 
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Legal Disputes 

The company is a party to court proceedings and legal disputes which occur in 

customary business transactions. The company fundamentally forms provisions 

for corresponding cases when the assertion of a claim is probable and an 

amount can be estimated. 

 

The status of the "skyDSL patent infringement proceedings" (against Deutsche 

Telekom AG and SES ASTRAnet S.A.) is unchanged, for which reason please refer 

to the 2009 notes to the consolidated financial statements. With regard to the 

utility model deletion action, it was found in the last instance in November 2011 

that the utility model did not have any effect from the beginning. In December 

2011, Deutsche Telekom AG filed a nullity action against the German skyDSL pa-

tent. In the first instance, the patent was declared null and invalid by the German 

Federal Patent Court in May 2013. TELES AG filed an appeal against the judge-

ment in September 2013 to the German Federal Court of Justice. A summons to 

the hearing is not expected until 2015. 

 

Any comment of the status of the patent lawsuits reported in earlier years has 

been waived since 2009, because – as already detailed in the 2008 consolidated 

financial statements – the majority shareholder (SSBG = Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH) assumed all costs in connection with the patent 

lawsuits effective as of 1 January 2009; SSBG and TELES are to participate in the 

results of the IntraStar patent disputes. 
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Remuneration Report 

This remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with the recommen-

dations in the German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) and includes disclo-

sures required as per the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It is a component of the summarized man-

agement report. The remuneration report contains the principles for the remu-

neration system for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board and pro-

vides details of the amounts and the structure of the remuneration on an indi-

vidual basis.  

 

Remuneration of the Management Board 

 

The total remuneration of the Management Board of TELES AG – with the excep-

tion of the remuneration for the Management Board Chairman – consists of 

fixed and performance-related remuneration components. The fixed basic re-

muneration is paid out each month in the form of a salary. The Management 

Board receives a monthly contribution to their health and nursing care insur-

ance, as well as the provision of a company car together with the benefit in kind 

related to this as fringe benefits. In addition, the Management Board receives 

annual variable remuneration determined on the basis of the extent to which the 

results-oriented targets specified together with the Supervisory Board at the 

start of a given financial year are met. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board can 

grant a discretionary bonus to the Management Board, the amount of which is 

oriented on the one hand to the overall performance of the company and on the 

other hand to the members' personal success in functions under their responsi-

bility. 

 

The remuneration of the Chairman of the Management Board continues to be 

limited to the provision of a company car and the benefit in kind related to this. 
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The Remuneration of the Management Board in the 2014 financial year consists 

of the following: 

 

(in k€) 2013 

Fixed 

2013 

Variab-

le 

2014 

Fixed 

2014 

Variab-

le 

The number of 

subscription rights 

exercised and 

non-exercised 

Prof. Dr.-Ing.  

Sigram Schindler *) 
41 0 40 0 0 

Oliver Olbrich 215 18 225 0 0 

Thomas Roll **) 56 10 0 0 0 

 312 28 265 0 0 

 
*) Prof. Dr.-Ing. Schindler received remuneration which corresponds with the pecuniary advantage 

from the provision of a motor vehicle. 
**) Mr. Roll’s total salaries for the period of time 1

 
January to 30 April 2013. 

 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

 

Likewise, the remuneration of the Supervisory Board fundamentally consists of 

fixed and performance-related components. In addition to the reimbursement of 

their expenses, the members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed annual 

representation allowance. Moreover, the members of the Supervisory Board re-

ceive performance-related variable remuneration at an amount of 0.15% of a 

positive consolidated result. It is subject to an upper limit at the amount of the 

basic remuneration.  

 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives two and a half times the basic 

and additional remuneration, while the Deputy Chairman receives one and a half 

times this amount. 

 

The Remuneration of the Supervisory Board in the 2014 financial year consists of 

the following: 
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(in k€) 2013 2014 

Prof. Dr. Walter Rust 37,5 37,5 

Prof. Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin 22,5 22,5 

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Oec. Thomas Schildhauer 9,1 15,0 

Prof. Dr. Ernst Denert 5,9 0,0 

 75,0 75,0 
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Disclosures Pursuant to Sec. 289 Para. IV, 

Sec. 315 Para. IV German Commercial 

Code (HGB) 

Composition of the Subscribed Capital 

 

The fully paid-in share capital consists of 23,304,676 no-par value bearer shares 

with a computed value of € 1.00 each. Each share entitles the bearer to one vote. 

There are no other classes of shares. 

 

Restrictions with Regard to Voting Rights or the Transfer of Shares 

  

The Management Board of the company is not aware of any restrictions which 

affect the voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

 

Direct or Indirect Shareholding in Capital Which Exceeds 10% of the Voting 

Rights 

 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin, Germany, held 57.18% of 

the voting rights in TELES AG on the balance sheet reporting date. Sigram Schind-

ler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH is held 100% by Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram 

Schindler, thereby granting him its voting rights pursuant to Sec. 22 Para. 1 Sen-

tence 1 No. 1 German Securities Trading Law (WpHG). Likewise, the voting rights 

of the Sigram Schindler Stiftung Foundation (1.46%) are attributed to him. To-

gether with his direct voting rights, Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler thus held 

a total of 58.70% of the voting rights in TELES AG Informationstechnologien on 

the balance sheet reporting date. 
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Otherwise the company is not aware of any other direct or indirect shareholding 

in the capital which exceeds 10% of the voting rights. 

 

Shares Vested with Special Rights; Controlling Powers 

 

There are no shares vested with special rights which grant controlling powers. 

 

Voting Rights Control 

 

Any voting right control within the meaning of Sec. 315 Para. 4 No. 5 German 

Commercial Code (HGB) does not occur. 

 

Regulations for the Appointment and Dismissal of Members of the Man-

agement Board and on Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation 

 

In accordance with Sec. 6 of the articles of incorporation, the Management Board 

consists of at least two members. The determination of the number in the con-

text of the above-mentioned regulation, as well as the appointment and revoca-

tion of an appointment are undertaken by the Supervisory Board, as is the ap-

pointment of a member of the Management Board to Chairman of the Manage-

ment Board. Otherwise, the appointment and dismissal of members of the Man-

agement Board is effected in accordance with Sec. 84, Sec. 85 German Stock 

Corporation Law (AktG). 

 

Any amendments to the articles of incorporation are effected in accordance with 

Sec. 179, Sec. 133 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), whereby pursuant to 

Sec. 14 of the articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board is entitled to 

decide on amendments to the articles of incorporation which only concern their 

wording. 

 

Powers of the Management Board Regarding the Option to Issue or Redeem 

Shares 
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By resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 29 August 2008, the 

Management Board was authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 

to increase the share capital by 28 August 2013 once or several times in cash or 

by contributions in kind by up to K€ 11,652 (authorized capital 2008/I). This 

authorization expired without having been used.  

 

By resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the conditional capital 

1997/I was created; on 31 December 2014, it amounted to K€ 1,946 and served 

to fulfill options on a total of 1,946,591 no-par shares. The conditional capital 

1997/I only becomes effective on the exercising of the conversion options for 

issued convertible bonds or in the event of the exercising of issued share options 

from the employees' share option programs. 

 

Furthermore by resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the conditional capital 

2000/I was created. This becomes effective only in the event of the exercising of share 

options from the employees' share option programs. As of 31 December 2014, the condi-

tional capital 2000/I amounted to K€ 384, divided into 383,876 no-par shares. 

 

Material Agreements of the Company Conditional on a Change in Control as 

a Result of a Takeover Bid 

 

There are no such agreements. 

 

Company Compensation Agreements Concluded with Members of the Man-

agement Board or Employees in the Event of a Takeover Bid 

 

There are no such agreements. 
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Concluding Statement on the De-

pendency Report 

Pursuant to Sec. 312 Para 3 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the Manage-

ment Board hereby states that in 2014 no legal transactions or other measures 

requiring reporting were recorded between the company and the controlling en-

tity or a third party which the company undertook or did not undertake at the 

behest of or in the interest of the controlling entity or an associate of same. 

 

Furthermore, the Management Board hereby states that the company received 

appropriate consideration for the legal transactions specified in the report on 

relationships with associates in accordance with the circumstances known at the 

respective time. In the 2014 financial year, no other measures requiring report-

ing were undertaken in the interest of or at the behest of the controlling entity 

which led to disadvantages on the part of the company.  
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Statement on Company Management  

Management and Corporate Structure 

 

The corporate management of TELES AG as a German stock corporation listed on 

the stock exchange is defined by the requirements of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Law (AktG) and the German Corporate Governance Code in its currently ap-

plicable version, as well as by the regulations in the articles of incorporation. Cor-

responding to its legal form, TELES AG has a two-tier management structure with 

its Management Board and Supervisory Board managerial bodies, which is char-

acterized by strict personnel separation between said management and supervi-

sory bodies. The third managerial body consists of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders, at which the shareholders exercise their rights. All three bodies 

are obliged to ensure the well-being of the company. 

 

The Supervisory Board elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders consists 

of three members in accordance with the articles of incorporation. The period of 

office for the Supervisory Board is normally five years. The Supervisory Board 

monitors and consults with the Management Board on the management of the 

business activities. The Supervisory Board discusses the business development, 

as well as the planning and strategy and their execution at regular intervals. With 

the Management Board, it discusses the quarterly and half-yearly reports prior 

to their publication and approves the annual planning, as well as the individual 

and consolidated financial statements. It takes into consideration the audit re-

port of the statutory auditor doing so. The Supervisory Board's scope of tasks 

also includes the appointment of Management Board members, as well as the 

setting of the Management Board remuneration and the regular assessment of 

same. 

 

The Management Board is the managerial body of the group and currently con-

sists of two persons. It manages the company under its own responsibility with 
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the aim of creating sustainable added value. The principle of overall responsibil-

ity is applicable, i.e. the members of the Management Board bear joint responsi-

bility for the entire business management irrespective of divisional responsibility. 

In this respect, the Management Board is subject to the requirements in the in-

ternal rules of procedure approved by the Supervisory Board. These regulate in 

particular all matters reserved for the overall responsibility of the Management 

Board and also include a list of matters of fundamental importance which re-

quire approval from the Supervisory Board. The Management Board develops 

the corporate strategy and ensures its execution in coordination with the Super-

visory Board. In addition, it is responsible for preparing the quarterly and annual 

financial statements, as well as for appointing staff to key positions in the com-

pany. 

 

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the decision-making body on the part of 

our shareholders. The annual financial statements are submitted to our share-

holders at the General Meeting of Shareholders. The shareholders decide on the 

appropriation of the balance sheet profit and also vote on other issues specified 

by law and the articles of incorporation. Each share entitles the bearer to one 

vote. Those shareholders are entitled to participate in the General Meeting of 

Shareholders which are registered within the specified deadline and have been 

shareholders at the beginning of the 21st day prior to the General Meeting of 

Shareholders (record date). Our shareholders can also exercise their voting 

rights at the General Meeting of Shareholders by means of an authorized third 

party or a voting representative (proxy holder) provided by the company which is 

bound by their voting instructions. They can also exercise their voting rights by 

means of a postal vote. 

 

Control Systems 

 

The internal control systems support the management in monitoring and con-

trolling the group and its business units. The systems consist of planning, actual 

and forecast calculations and are based on the annually revised strategic plan-
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ning of the group. Doing so, consideration is given especially to market develop-

ments, technological developments and trends, together with their impact on the 

company's products and services, as well as on the financial options of the 

group. 

  

The Group reporting system consists of monthly results calculations, as well as 

quarterly IFRS reports for all consolidated subsidiaries, and presents the net 

assets, financial and earnings position of the group, as well as of its corporate 

areas. The financial reporting is supplemented with further detailed information 

required for the assessment and the control of the operative business.  

  

A further component of the control systems are quarterly reports containing de-

tails of the fundamental risks to the company. 

  

The reports named are discussed at Management Board and Supervisory Board 

meetings and represent a fundamental basis for assessments and decisions. 

 

In line with the positioning of the three business areas, access solutions, carrier 

solutions and enterprise solutions, the operative business of the company is 

fundamentally controlled via the sales revenue, gross earnings, EBITDA and EBIT 

parameters, as well as via a range of other important non-financial key figures. 

 

Corporate Governance 

 

The term corporate governance stands for management and control of compa-

nies aligned to responsible and long-term creation of added value. Efficient co-

operation between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, respect 

for the shareholder interests, as well as openness and transparency in the cor-

porate communications are essential aspects of good corporate governance. 

 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of TELES AG consider themselves 

obliged to provide for the continued existence of the company and sustainable 
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creation of added value by means of responsible corporate management and 

with a long-term focus. This corporate vision is based on the recommendations 

of the German Corporate Governance Code in its respective valid version. Fol-

lowing a proper and thorough review most recently in November 2014, the Man-

agement Board and Supervisory Board have issued the following compliance 

statement in accordance with Sec. 161 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG): 

 

Compliance Statement by the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board of TELES AG Informationstechnologien as per Sec. 161 German Stock 

Corporation Law (AktG) with the German Corporate Governance Code in 

the Version dated 13 May 2013 

 

Pursuant to Sec 161 of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the Manage-

ment Board and Supervisory Board of stock corporations listed on the stock ex-

change in Germany are required to issue an annual statement declaring that the 

recommendations of the "Government Commission German Corporate Govern-

ance Code" have been and are being complied with, or list the recommendations 

which were not complied with and disclose the reasons why not. This statement 

must be permanently accessible for the shareholders. 

 

The German Corporate Governance Code (the "code") contains regulations with 

differing binding force. In addition to presenting binding stock corporation law 

regulations, it also contains recommendations from which companies can devi-

ate; they are then obliged however to make full annual disclosure of said devia-

tions. Furthermore, the code contains suggestions which may be deviated from 

without disclosure. 

 

The following statement refers to the code in its version dated 13 May 2013 

(published on 10 June 2013). 

 

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of TELES AG hereby state 

that the recommendations of the "Government Commission German Corporate 
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Governance Code" published by the German Federal Ministry of Justice in the 

official section of the electronic Federal Gazette have been and are being com-

plied with since the last compliance statement issued in October 2013 and will be 

complied with in the future, with the following exceptions. 

 

1. Code Section 3.8 (Management Board and Supervisory Board – D&O Insur-

ance) 

The code recommends that when concluding directors' and officers' liability in-

surance, to also agree to a deductible for the Supervisory Board of the company 

corresponding to that based on the statutory regulations for Management Board 

deductibles. 

  

The D&O insurance concluded by TELES does not envisage a deductible for the 

Supervisory Board. The nature of the Supervisory Board mandate, which is also 

clarified in the distinct structure of its remuneration, permits a difference 

between the Management Board and Supervisory Board with respect to the D&O 

Insurance to seem reasonable and appropriate. Furthermore, agreement to a 

deductible is not considered as suitable for further enhancing the motivation and 

sense of responsibility of the Supervisory Board members who are already acting 

responsibly and in the interest of the company due to their function. 

 

2. Code Section 4.2.1 (Management Board – Responsibility for Divisions in Inter-

nal Rules of Procedure) 

  

In addition to Sec. 77 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the German 

Corporate Governance Code recommends that the internal rules of procedure 

for the Management Board are to regulate especially the divisional 

responsibilities of the individual Management Board members. 

 

The definition of the divisional responsibilities in the internal rules of procedure 

for the Management Board members is not required, as the various divisional 

responsibilities are stipulated directly in the service contracts of the individual 

Management Board members. 
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3. Code Section 4.2.3 (Management Board – Remuneration)  

In addition to Sec. 87 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code requires that the remuneration overall, as well as with 

respect to its variable remuneration elements, shall have a maximum limit in 

terms of the amount. 

 

The Management Board contracts provide for variable remuneration which is 

calculated on a percentage basis from the company's result and is also limited in 

terms of the amount. In addition to this however, the Supervisory Board is also 

entitled to grant a discretionary bonus the amount of which is dependent on the 

overall performance of the company as well as on the success of the business 

areas under individual responsibility. However as the intention is to only utilize 

these discretionary bonuses in exceptional cases, agreement on a maximum lim-

it in terms of an amount has been waived. 

 

Furthermore, the code recommends that in the event of premature termination 

of Management Board activities, payments are also to be limited in terms of the 

amount (severance payment caps), whereby the calculation of the severance 

payment cap shall be based on the complete remuneration in the financial year 

then ended and also on the probable complete remuneration in the current fi-

nancial year as required.  

 

While a severance payment cap has been agreed in the Management Board ser-

vice contract, its calculation occurs solely on the basis of the fixed salary. 

 

4. Code Section 5.1.2 (Age Limit for Management Board Directors, Diversity) 

The code recommends that the Supervisory Board defines an age limit for mem-

bers of the Management Board, and that it also takes diversity into account 

when appointing members to the Management Board and in particular that is 

strives for an appropriate consideration of women doing so. 
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TELES has waived the defining of an age limit for the Management Board, as the 

expertise of experienced Management Board members shall fundamentally also 

be available to the company and exclusion from the Management Board and 

Supervisory Board solely on the basis of age does not seem to be proper and 

appropriate. 

  

When appointing members to the Management Board, the Supervisory Board 

primarily ensures that, in the interests of the company, the greatest possible 

professional competencies are provided, before it then takes further criteria into 

consideration. Doing so, due to the internationality of the company, value is 

placed especially on applicants having key skills and qualifications, language 

abilities and experience in different cultural environments. For this reason in the 

past, Management Board positions were also regularly filled with foreign 

managers. 

A concrete objective to specifically promote the participation of women has not 

been envisaged to date.   

 

5. Code Sections 5.2 and 5.3 (Supervisory Board, Forming Committees, Chairperson) 

The code recommends that the Supervisory Board shall form professionally qual-

ified committees subject to the specific circumstances of the company and the 

number of its members. 

 

The Supervisory Board of TELES AG is currently composed of three members. 

Because these members as a whole also examine and analyze – in addition to 

their other duties – the individual committee topics referred to in the code, the 

formation of committees is not regarded as appropriate for enhancing the effi-

ciency of the Supervisory Board's work and is therefore not envisaged. To that 

extent, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is also acting in his position as 

chairperson when the Supervisory Board as a whole considers the monitoring of 

the accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 

management system and the internal audit system, as well as the audit of the 

annual financial statements and in particular the independence of the statutory 

auditor and the services rendered additionally by same in this context. 
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6. Code Section 5.4.1 (Composition of the Supervisory Board, Age Limit, Diversity) 

In line with the revised version dated 26 May 2010, the code recommends that 

the Supervisory Board sets concrete targets for its composition, while taking into 

consideration the specific situation of the company, its international activities, 

potential conflicts of interests, the number of independent Supervisory Board 

members in the meaning of Section 5.4.2., as well as an age limit to be defined 

for Supervisory Board members and diversity. The intention is for these concrete 

targets to provide for appropriate participation of women. 

  

The Supervisory Board has not defined concrete targets for its composition to 

date and after consideration of the company's specific situation, it also does not 

intend to set these targets for the time being. Regarding the composition of the 

Supervisory Board, value is primarily placed on ensuring that the greatest possi-

ble professional competencies are provided together with international experi-

ence, before further criteria are then taken into consideration. 

 

Furthermore, the company has waived the defining of an age limit for the Super-

visory Board, as the expertise of experienced Supervisory Board members shall 

fundamentally also be available to the company and any exclusion solely on the 

basis of age does not seem to be proper and appropriate. 

 

7. Code Section 5.4.5 (Supervisory Board – Training and Advanced Educational 

Measures) 

Furthermore, the code recommends that the company shall support in an ap-

propriate manner the Supervisory Board members with training and advanced 

education measures required for the fulfillment of their duties. 

  

Fundamentally, the company supports the Supervisory Board members with ap-

propriate training and advanced education measures in the context of the reim-

bursement of expenses as per the articles of incorporation. As it is currently un-

clear which requirements have to be fulfilled in order that the support provided 
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by the company in the context of this code recommendation is regarded as ap-

propriate, by way of precaution, a deviation from the recommendation is de-

clared herewith. 

 

8. Code Section 7.1.2 (Publication of Financial Reports) 

In line with the recommendation of the code, the consolidated financial 

statements shall be publicly accessible within 90 days after the end of the 

financial year, while interim reports shall be publicly accessible within 45 days 

after the end of the reporting period.  

 

Fundamentally, TELES AG publishes the consolidated financial statements and 

the interim reports – wherever possible – within these time limits. When required 

however, it retains the right to avail of the statutory deadlines for the disclo-

sures. Thus, the consolidated financial statements for the 2013 financial year 

were published a few days after the lapse of the 90-day time limit. The interim 

reports (Q3/2013, Q1/2014, half-year/2014 as well as Q3/2014) were published 

within the 45-day time limit. 

 

 

Berlin, 28. April 2015 

 

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler 

Oliver Olbrich 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

in K€, excluding numbers of ordinary shares    

 Notes 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

ASSETS    

    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 5 145 

8 

0 

153 

 

 

1.863 

1.581 

0 

130 

260 

480 

4.314 

 

4.467 

 

 

 

 

23.305 

11.569 

-45.017 

0 

-119 

-66 

-10.328 

 

0 

 

-10.328 

 

 

451 

10.688 

11.139 

 

1.373 

0 

448 

670 

4 

1.161 

3.656 

 

14.795 

 

4.467 

126 

Intangible assets 6 8 11 

  153 137 

    

Current assets    

Inventories 7 1,863 879 

Trade receivables 8, 16 1,581 1,244 

Receivables from taxes on income 21 130 45 

Other current assets 9 260 154 

Cash and cash equivalents 16, 24 480 636 

  4,314 2,958 

    
Total assets  4,467 3,095 

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

    
Equity    

Ordinary shares (issued and in circulation: 23,304,676)  23,305 23,305 

Capital reserve  11,569 11,569 

Revenue reserves  -45,017 -46,792 

Valuation of pension obligations  -119 -224 

Currency translation reserve  -66 396 

Attributed to parent company shareholders  -10,328 -11,746 

    

Attributed to non-controlling minority interests  0 0 

    

Total equity 10 -10,328 -11,746 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Non-current provisions 15 451 622 

Other financial liabilities 11, 16, 26 1,688 10,820 

  11,139 11,442 

Current liabilities    

Trade payables 16 1,373 947 

Other provisions 15 448 264 

Accrued income 12 670 449 

Other financial liabilities 13, 16, 26 4 0 

Other current liabilities 14, 26 1,161 1,739 

  3,656 3,399 

    

Total liabilities  14,795 14,841 

    

  4,467 3,095 
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Consolidated Income Statement 

in K€, excluding numbers of ordinary shares  1 January - 31 December 

 Notes 2013 2014 

    
CONTINUING OPERATIONS    

    
Sales revenues 17, 27 10,701 11,446 

    

Production costs 17, 27 4,552 5,068 

    

Gross profit  6,149 6,378 

    

 Sales and marketing expenses 27 3,512 2,935 

 Research and development expenses 27 2,752 2,991 

 Administration expenses 27 2,168 1,876 

 Other income 18 1,342 362 

 Other expenses 18 195 595 

    

Operating result/EBIT 27 -1,136 -1,657 

    
 Financial income 16, 19, 27 359 21 

 Financial expenses 16, 19, 27 235 144 

 Other shareholdings result 16, 19, 27 1,081 0 

    

Result from continuing operations before taxes on income  21, 27 69 -1,780 

    

 Taxes on income 21 -736 -5 

    

Result from continuing operations  805 -1,775 

    

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS    

    

Results from discontinued operations after deduction of taxes 20 648 0 

    

Net loss/profit for the year  1,453 -1,775 

    
of which attributable to:    

 Parent company shareholders 23 1,453 -1,775 

 Minority interests  0 0 

    
Result per share from continuing operations    

 Undiluted  0.03 -0.08 

 Diluted  0.03 -0.08 

    
Result per share, total 23   

 Undiluted  0.06 -0.08 

 Diluted  0.06 -0.08 

    
Number of underlying shares    

 Undiluted  23,304,676 23,304,676 

 Diluted  23,304,676 23,304,676 

    

Additional disclosure to the consolidated financial statements:    

EBITDA1  -1,008 -1,552 

                                                

 
1
 Corresponds with operating result (2013: -K€ 1,136; 2014: -K€ 1,657) before depreciations (2013: K€ 128; 2014: K€ 105). 
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Consolidated Statement of Compre-

hensive Income 

(in K€)  1 January - 31 December 

 Notes 2013 2014 

    

Net loss/profit for the year  1,453 -1,775 

    

Other comprehensive income:    

    

Other income reclassified in current period affecting net income:    

    

Financial assets available for sale; measurement  281 0 

Gain from financial assets available for sale 16 -1,081 0 

Income tax effects  12 0 

 16, 21 -788 0 

    

Other income reclassified in current period affecting net income, net  -788 0 

    

Other income to be reclassified in subsequent periods affecting net income:    

    

Currency translation differences, foreign subsidiaries  -297 462 

    

Other income to be reclassified in subsequent periods affecting net 

income, net 

 
-297 462 

    

Actuarial losses from defined benefit pension plan obligations as per IAS 19 15 -45 -105 

    

Items not to be reclassified in subsequent periods affecting net income, 

net 

 
-45 -105 

    

Other comprehensive income after deduction of taxes  -1,130 357 

    

Comprehensive income after deduction of taxes  323 -1,418 

    

of which attributable to:    

 Parent company shareholders  323 -1.418 

 Minority interests  0 0 

 

  



Page 56 of 131 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Development of the Consolidated Equity 

(in K€, 

excluding 

numbers of 

ordinary 

shares) 

Number of 

ordinary 

shares 

Nominal 

value of 

the 

shares 

Capital 

reserve 

Revenue 

reserves 

 

Cumulative other  

consolidated income 

Total Attributed 

to non-

controlling 

minority 

interests 

Number 

of ordi-

nary 

shares 

  

 

Fair 

value 

reserve 

Valuation 

of pension 

obligations2 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

31 December 

2012 23,304,676 23,305 11,569 -46,470 788 -74 231 -10,651 0 -10,651 

           
Net loss for the 

year 
- - - 1,453 - - - 1,453 0 1,453 

           
Other 

comprehensive 

income 

- - - - -788 -45 -297 -1,130 0 -1,130 

           
Comprehensive 

income 
- - - 1,453 -788 -45 -297 323 0 323 

           
31 December 

2013 23,304,676 23,305 11,569 -45,017 0 -119 -66 -10,328 0 -10,328 

 

(in K€, 

excluding num-

bers of ordinary 

shares) 

Number of 

ordinary 

shares 

Nominal 

value of 

the 

shares 

Capital 

reserve 

Revenue 

reserves 

 

Cumulative other  

consolidated income 

Total Attributed 

to non-

controlling 

minority 

interests 

Total 

equity 

  

 

Fair 

value 

reserve 

Valuation 

of pension 

obligations2 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

31 December 

2013 
23,304,676 23,305 11,569 -45,017 0 -119 -66 -10,328 0 -10,328 

           
Net loss for the 

year 
- - - -1,775 - - - -1,775 0 -1,775 

           
Other 

comprehensive 

income 

- - - - - -105 462 357 0 357 

           
Comprehensive 

income 
- - - -1,775 - -105 462 -1,418 0 -1,418 

           
31 December 

2014 23,304,676 23,305 11,569 -46,792  0 -224 396 -11,746 0 -11,746 

                                                

 
2
 See Note 15 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

(in K€)  1 January – 31 December 

 Notes 2013 2014 

Cash flow from operating activities:    

    
Net loss/profit for the year  1,453 -1,775 
    
Adjustment of the net loss/profit for the year to the 

operating cash flow: 

   

Deconsolidation result 4 0 -90 

Taxes on income 21 -736 -5 

Financial result 16, 19   

Subsequent measurement, debtor warrant 

agreement, Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

 195 97 

Interest result  21 41 

Dividends GRAVIS  -340 -15 

Disposal of shares GRAVIS  -1,081 0 

Value adjustment on receivables 8, 16 255 -82 

Value impairment on inventories 3, 7 -128 166 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5 124 98 

Depreciation of intangible assets 6 4 7 
Changes to the provisions, pension obligations 

and public sector grants 

3, 15 -1,359 66 

    
Charges to other balance sheet items:    

Inventories 7 -45 818 

Trade receivables 8, 16 1,203 406 

Other current assets, prepayments and accrued 

income 

9 372 107 

Current liabilities 14 -1,276 -460 

Provisions and other liabilities 14, 15, 19 -790 -94 

Effects from exchange rate differences not 

affecting payments 

 -297 462 

    
Taxes on income received 21 748 94 
Interest received 16, 19 1 0 
Interest paid 16, 19 0 -6 
    
Cash flow from operating activities  -1,676 -165 

    
Cash flow from investing activities:    

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 5 -57 -79 

Acquisition of intangible assets 6 -7 -11 

Debtor warranty agreement right 16 568 0 

Dividends GRAVIS 16 250 11 

Disposal of shares GRAVIS 16 1,081 0 

    

    
Cash flow from investing activities  1,835 -79 

    
Cash flow from financing activities:    

Loans from related parties 26 0 400 

    
Cash flow from financing activities  0 400 
    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   159 156 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  321 480 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  24 480 636 
Cash and cash equivalents contain: money market   70 60 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the 2014 Financial Year 

Note 1: General Information  

TELES Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien (hereafter called "TELES AG") 

and its subsidiaries (hereafter called "TELES" or the "company") operate in the 

field of innovative telecommunication technologies and services: TELES is a high-

performance supplier of equipment, solutions and services for fixed line and 

fixed-mobile convergence, as well as a next-generation network (NGN) service 

provider. 

  

TELES AG has its registered head office in Berlin, Germany. The shares of TELES 

AG are listed on the Prime Standard stock exchange market segment and are 

traded on all German stock exchanges. 

 

The majority shareholder of TELES AG is Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH with its registered office in Berlin. 

 

The company employed 88 employees on average over the financial year (previ-

ous year: 87). The employees work in the following areas: Sales and marketing 

(19, previous year: 20), research and development (37, previous year: 35), pro-

curement and logistics (21, previous year: 21) and administration (11, previous 

year: 11). 
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Note 2: Summary of Fundamental Ac-

counting Policies 

2.1 Presentation Information 

 

The consolidated financial statements of TELES as of 31 December 2014 were 

prepared in accordance with Sec. 315a HGB, applying the provisions in the guide-

lines of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, valid on 

the balance sheet reporting date. All IAS and IFRS standards, as well as interpre-

tations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRS 

IC) which were binding in the EU as of 31 December 2014 have been complied 

with. 

 

The Management Board of TELES AG prepared the consolidated financial state-

ments on 27 April 2015 and approved them for submission to the company's Su-

pervisory Board. 

 

2.2 Going Concern, Financing and Material Uncertainties 

 

Based on the assessment of the management, the company as a going concern 

was regarded as a given and the consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared on the going concern assumption. The loan, which has been agreed in 

March 2014 with the majority shareholder, was partly utilized to bridge a gap of 

financial resources. Of this loan an amount of 400.000 Euro remains for bridging 

of potential future financing shortfalls. In April 2015, the majority shareholder 

made another loan commitment of 1 Mio Euro in addition to the previously 

granted funds in order to close any further financial gaps. The Management 

Board continues to regard the loan commitment as sufficient in order to cover 

the expected financing requirements until at least the middle of 2016. For fur-
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ther information on any jeopardy to the company's further existence, please see 

the "Financing/Going Concern" section in the group management report. 

 

2.3 Consolidation Principles 

 

Group of Consolidated Companies 

 

In addition to TELES AG as the parent company, one domestic subsidiary and six 

foreign subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements pre-

pared for the 2014 financial year. As a result of a merger and a company dele-

tion, the group of consolidated companies has been reduced by two companies 

and one company respectively compared to the previous year. 

 

There are no shareholdings in associates. 

 

A listing of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements is 

provided in Note 28. 

 

Consolidation Methods 

 

All companies with which TELES AG has the opportunity either indirectly or di-

rectly to determine the financial and business policies such that the group com-

panies obtain benefits from the activities of these companies are included in the 

consolidated financial statements. The financial statements were prepared in 

accordance with uniform accounting and measurement principles. The first in-

clusion of a company in the consolidated financial statements occurs with effect 

at the date on which TELES AG assumes the controlling relationship vis-a-vis the 

subsidiary. Amounts relating to minority shareholders are reported separately. 

 

The capital consolidated is based on the acquisition method, provided the simpli-

fication regulations stated in IFRS 1 were not permissibly availed of with the tran-

sition to IFRS as of 1 January 2002. Doing so, the acquisition values of the share-

holdings are offset against the group share of the fair value of the equity of the 
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respective company. In this regard, the assets and debts acquired, including 

those not reported on the balance sheet of the company acquired, are recog-

nized at the current value at the time of acquisition. Minority interests are re-

ported on the balance sheet at the amount of the fair values attributable to the 

minority shareholders. The positive difference between the acquisition costs and 

the share of the net current value is reported as goodwill and subjected to an 

assessment of its recoverable value at least once a year. 

 

Internal group transactions are eliminated. Receivables and liabilities between 

the consolidated companies are offset against each other. Interim results are 

eliminated and intra-group income set off against the corresponding expenses. 

 

On the disposal of a subsidiary, the assets and debts included until this time, as 

well as any goodwill to be attributed to the subsidiary, are offset against the 

disposal proceeds. 

 

2.4 Summary of Fundamental Accounting Policies 

 

a) Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

The property, plant and equipment are reported on the balance sheet at acquisi-

tion costs, reduced by scheduled and unscheduled depreciation where applica-

ble. New measurements are not carried out. The scheduled depreciation occurs 

on a straight-line basis over the following time periods: 

 

 

Computer hardware:    3 years 

Office and operating equipment:  5 years 

Leasehold improvements:  10 years or shorter remaining rental 

period 

Other assets:     10 years 

 

Maintenance and repair costs are recognized through income at the point in 

time when they are incurred. 
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b) Intangible Assets 

 

Acquired intangible assets are recognized on the balance sheet as an asset when 

it is probable that a future economic benefit is associated with their use. They 

are reported at acquisition costs, reduced by scheduled and unscheduled depre-

ciation where applicable. The scheduled depreciation occurs on a straight-line 

basis over the following time periods: 

 

Software:   3-5 years 

Other assets:  3-5 years 

 

c) Financial Instruments, Assets 

 

The categorization of the financial instruments occurs in accordance with IAS 39. 

Potential categories of financial instruments (assets) are: 

 Financial assets which are measured at fair value affecting net income, whereby a distinction is drawn 

between those which (i) are classified as such on their initial recognition, and those which (ii) are classi-

fied as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39; 

 Financial investments held until final maturity; 

 Loans and receivables; 

 Available-for-sale financial instruments. 

 

Trade receivables as well as other receivables are initially recognized at fair value 

and subsequently at amortized acquisition costs by applying the effective inter-

est method. In order to take into account the general credit risk, the receivables 

are summarized in groups in accordance with their maturity, with value adjust-

ments then undertaken on the basis of the age structure. However when so re-

quired by the actual circumstances, reasonable value adjustments are undertak-

en on a case-by-case basis for individual items. 

 

The reporting on the balance sheet of the acquisition and the disposal of finan-

cial assets occurs on the day of fulfillment. 
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d) Inventories 

 

Inventories are recognized at the average acquisition and/or production costs, or 

the lower net realizable value. Where there are inventories which are difficult to 

sell and become outdated, reductions in value are undertaken. 

 

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

The company regards all highly liquid investments with a term of 90 days or 

shorter to the acquisition date as cash equivalents. 

 

f) Equity 

 

The regulations in the German Commercial Code – HGB (specifically Sec. 272) 

and in the German Stock Corporation Law – AktG (specifically Sec. 71 et seq., Sec. 

192 et seq.) respectively are definitive for the management of the equity in the 

individual financial statements of TELES AG, as well as the regulations in accord-

ance with IFRS for the equity of the TELES group. The above-mentioned laws and 

regulations respectively represent the only external restrictions to which the 

TELES equity is subject to. The company fulfilled all external minimum capital 

requirements in the financial year now ended. 

 

The equity reported in the consolidated financial statements corresponds to the 

equity controlled by the management. 

 

g) Financial Instruments, Liabilities 

 

The categorization of the financial instruments occurs in accordance with IAS 39. 

Potential categories of financial instruments (liabilities) are: 

 

 Financial liabilities which are measured at fair value affecting net income, whereby a distinction is 

drawn between those which (i) are classified as such on their initial recognition, and those which (ii) are 

classified as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39; 
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 Financial liabilities which are measured at amortized acquisition costs. 

 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH waived loans in the previous fi-

nancial years, as well as in the now ended financial year, which were granted to 

the company. The company has reported a financial liability on the balance sheet 

as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014 respectively, which results from 

a debtor warranty agreement reached in connection with the waiver of the loan. 

The initial measurement of the liability occurred at the fair value. The fair value 

was determined –  due to a lack of market-related values – by means of the dis-

counted cash flow method. It is updated at the amortized acquisition costs. 

 

The company has concluded a factoring contract with Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (factor), according to which TELES can offer 

contractually defined trade receivables to the factor for purchase. The purchase 

price to be paid by the factor to TELES is calculated from the nominal value of the 

purchased TELES receivable from its customer minus the factoring fee at an 

amount of 1% of the nominal value of the receivable. 

 

Trade liabilities are reported on the balance sheet by the company at amortized 

acquisition costs. 

 

h) Provisions 

 

Provisions are formed when a current legal or de facto obligation is established 

for the company from an event in the past, an outflow of resources is probable 

to fulfil this obligation and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimat-

ed. 

 

 

i) Employee Benefits 

 

Benefits after the termination of the employment relationship which are classi-

fied as defined benefit plans are reported by the company on the balance sheet 
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in accordance with IAS 19. The total actuarial gains and losses in the period are 

recorded in the other comprehensive income by applying IAS 19. 

 

Payments for defined contribution plans are recorded as an expense in the in-

come statement when they are due. 

 

j) Deferred Taxes 

 

The recognition of deferred taxes occurs on the basis of the so-called assets and 

liabilities method: Deferred taxes on income are formed for all significant tempo-

rary differences between the taxation calculation basis and the calculation basis 

relevant for accounting purposes of the assets and debts, as well as for tax loss-

es carried forward on the basis of the tax rates applicable by law. Deferred tax 

assets are reduced by a measurement deduction to the extent that it is probable 

due to known circumstances that a part or all of the complete deferred tax as-

sets cannot be used. Deferred taxes are recognized as non-current assets or lia-

bilities. 

 

k) Impairments of Assets 

 

Assets are assessed on each balance sheet reporting date as to whether events 

or changed circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts cannot be achieved 

and thus there is an impairment requirement. 

 

l) Research and Development Costs 

 

Research costs are recognized as an expense at the point in time when they are 

incurred. Costs which arise in connection with the company's own development 

of software for telecommunication devices intended for sale are assessed as to 

whether they can be reported on the balance sheet as internally generated in-

tangible assets. In addition to the general requirements for reporting and initial 

measurement of same on the balance sheet as assets, the technical and com-

mercial feasibility must be proven for their recognition and the attributable ex-
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penses capable of being reliably measured. Furthermore, it must be probable 

that the intangible asset will lead to a future economic benefit, is clearly identifi-

able and can be allocated to a specific product. If the research phase cannot be 

clearly distinguished from the development phase, then the costs are treated 

overall as research costs. 

 

Development costs recognized as an asset on the balance sheet are depreciated 

over the expected useful life of the internally generated intangible asset. The de-

preciation is recognized in the production costs. 

 

m) Leases 

 

Leases which the company has entered into are classified as operating leases 

provided the company is not to be regarded as the beneficial owner. The leasing 

rates are recognized through profit and loss in the period in which they arise.  

 

Leased items which are to be attributed to the company as their beneficial owner 

are recognized on the balance sheet as assets and depreciated over their normal 

useful life or over the shorter term of the leasing agreement where applicable. 

Accordingly, the liability which arises from the lease is recognized as a liability on 

the balance sheet reduced by the discharged component of the leasing rates 

paid. 

 

n) Translation of Foreign Currencies 

  

The currency of the primary economic environment in which the individual group 

companies operate is regarded as the "functional" currency. For the subsidiaries 

of TELES AG, this corresponds to the respective national currency of the compa-

nies. Accordingly, all assets and debts were measured at the current exchange 

rate on the balance sheet reporting date. The income and expenses are translat-

ed at the average monthly exchange rates over the year. Gains and losses from 

the translation of the group companies' financial statements are not recognized 



Translation – the German version is authoritative 

 

© TELES AG Informationstechnologien  Page 68 of 89 

in the income statement, but in the other changes to the equity. Gains and losses 

from foreign currency transactions are included in the result for the year. 

 

o) Employees' Share Option Programs 

 

The employees' share option programs of the company are reported on the 

balance sheet in accordance with IFRS 2 "Share-based Payment". IFRS 2 

stipulates that the impacts of share-based payments are to be taken into account 

in the result and in the net worth and financial position of the company. This 

includes the expenses from the granting of share options to employees. 

Accordingly, the fair value of the work performed by the employees is to be 

recognized as an expense affecting net income as consideration for the share 

options granted, as well as recognized as an increase in the equity. As the fair 

value of the work performed by the employees cannot however be determined 

reliably, the fair value of the share options at the point in time when they are 

granted is to be used for the measurement. 

 

In accordance with the transition regulations, IFRS 2 was already to be applied to 

all equity instruments which were granted after 7 November 2002 and were not 

yet nonlapsable on 1 January 2005. The comparative information was to be ad-

justed accordingly. 

 

The exercising of the option is presented in such a way that the basic price which 

is to be paid by the eligible party is reported on the balance sheet as a capital 

increase with no effect on net income. 

 

p) Revenue Recognition Principles 

 

Products 

The company recognizes sales revenues from product sales on the basis of a 

corresponding contract as soon as the respective product has been delivered, 

the sale price is set or can be determined and there are no fundamental obliga-

tions to the customers and the collection of the receivables is regarded as prob-
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able. The company forms provisions for all potential costs resulting from product 

recalls/returns, warranty services and other costs based on experience. 

 

Services 

Sales revenues from the provision of services are recognized when these have 

been fundamentally rendered in full and are billable. The company provides ser-

vices which are concluded within a period, as well as services where the provi-

sion of the service extends over several periods. If the contractually agreed ser-

vices extend beyond the balance sheet reporting date, already billed services 

which have however not yet been provided, and/or services provided but not yet 

billed, are accrued and deferred. 

 

Charging on of Transport and Shipping Costs 

The company reports charged-on shipping costs in the sales revenues and the 

related costs in the production costs. 

 

q) Production Costs 

 

The production costs of the products sold contain, in addition to the directly at-

tributable material and production costs, the indirect overheads, including the 

depreciation on the production units and the other intangible assets, as well as 

the impairments to the inventories. 

 

r) Result per Ordinary Share 

  

The undiluted annual net income per ordinary share is calculated on the basis of 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares which are in circulation during 

the reporting period. Treasury stock reduces the number of ordinary shares in 

circulation. The diluted annual net income per ordinary share is calculated on the 

basis of the weighted average number of the ordinary shares and diluted ordi-

nary equivalent shares which are in circulation during the reporting period. Dilu-

tion effects are related solely to issued share options. 
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s) Segment Reporting 

 

The internal management of the company represents the basis for the segment 

reporting (management approach). The external segment reporting is conducted 

on the basis of the internal organization and management structure, as well as 

the coordinated internal financial reporting in this respect to the highest man-

agement body (chief operating decision maker). 

 

t) Public Sector Grants  

  

Grants received from the public sector towards the acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment are fundamentally reported in the non-current liabilities under 

the other non-current liabilities and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

period of depreciation of the subsidized assets affecting net income. Where the 

property, plant and equipment concerned have already been partly or fully de-

preciated at the point in time when the grant claim arises, recognition occurs 

immediately. 

 

u) Dividend Income 

 

Dividend income is recognized at the point in time when the right to the receipt 

of the payment occurs. 

 

v) Discontinued Business Operations 

 

The company fundamentally reports continuing operations and discontinued 

operations separately within the income statement, whereby the contribution to 

the operating income from the discontinued operations is reported in summa-

rized form. The composition of the contribution amount, as well as of the 

amounts attributable to the discontinued operations in the cash flow statement 

are detailed in Note 20. 
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Subsequent contributions to the operating income from business areas which 

were discontinued in previous years are reported as "Results from discontinued 

operations after deduction of taxes". 

 

2.5 Material Discretionary Decisions, Estimates and Assumptions 

Estimates  

  

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Management Board 

must make estimates and assumptions in line with the generally recognized ac-

counting principles, which influence the amounts reported in the consolidated 

financial statements and notes. 

 

The measurement of the financial liability from the debtor warranty agreement 

right for waived liabilities occurs on the basis of the discounted cash flow meth-

od. The payability of the amounts is dependent on certain operative conditions. 

Hence, the fundamental assumptions on which the determination of the amount 

to be paid is based include assumptions with regard to the development of the 

sales revenue or earnings. Please refer to Note 16. 

 

Please refer to Point 2.2 in these Notes regarding the assessment by the 

management with respect to the company's going concern principle and 

financing. 

 

2.6 Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Applicable Mandatorily 

for the First Time in the Financial Year now Ended 

 

The application of the following standards and interpretations was mandatory as 

of 1 January 2014: 

 

 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements  
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IFRS 10 replaces the guidance concerning control and consolidation contained in 

IAS 27 "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements" and SIC-12 "Consolida-

tion – Special Purpose Entities". 

 

IFRS 10 amends the definition of control to the extent that the same criteria are 

applied to all entities for the determination of a controlling relationship. This def-

inition is supported by comprehensive application guidance which indicates the 

various ways a reporting entity (investor) can control another entity (associate). 

 

The new standard is applicable to financial years commencing on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2014. An earlier application is permitted under certain conditions. 

 

The standard is currently irrelevant for the company as all consolidated compa-

nies concern 100% subsidiaries. 

 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements  

 

IFRS 11 regulates the reporting on the balance sheet of circumstances in which 

an entity exercises joint control over a joint venture or a joint operation. The new 

Standard replaces IAS 31 "Interests in Joint Ventures" and SIC-13 "Jointly 

Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers" as the relevant 

regulations to date for questions relating to the balance sheet reporting of  joint 

ventures. 

 

The new standard is applicable to financial years commencing on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2014. An earlier application is permitted under certain conditions. 

 

The application of IFRS 11 will have no fundamental relevance for the company. 

 

 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities 
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In accordance with the new IFRS 12 standard, entities must disclose details which 

enable the recipients of the financial statements to assess the type, risks and fi-

nancial impacts connected with the entity's interests in subsidiaries, associates, 

joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities (special purpose enti-

ties). 

 

The new standard is applicable to reporting periods commencing or after 1 Janu-

ary 2014. An earlier application is permitted without this leading to an obligatory 

application of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 or the amended IAS 27 and IAS 28. 

 

As IFRS 12 exclusively relates to disclosure obligations, there are no impacts on 

the net worth, financial and earnings position of the company. 

 

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised 2011) 

 

With IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements", the previous option for the proportionate 

consolidation of joint ventures was abolished. The mandatory application of the 

equity method to joint ventures is to occur in the future in accordance with the 

regulations in the correspondingly amended IAS 28, the scope of which is now 

extended to the balance sheet reporting of joint ventures and which was thus 

renamed IAS 28 "Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised 2011)". 

However it has to be considered in this regard that owing to changes in connec-

tion with the classification of entities as joint ventures, not all joint ventures cur-

rently included as per the proportionate consolidation will necessarily have to be 

reported on the balance sheet in accordance with the equity method. 

 

IAS 28 (revised 2011) is initially applicable in the first period of a financial year 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014. An earlier application of the standard is 

possible, provided this is stated in the notes and IFRS 10, 11, 12 and IAS 27 (re-

vised 2011) are also applied earlier.  

 

The amendment to IAS 28 (revised 2011) will have no relevance for the company. 
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Amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Fi-

nancial Liabilities 

 

The IASB published the regulations for the offsetting of financial assets and fi-

nancial liabilities on 16 December 2011. 

  

Only the application guidance in IAS 32 "Financial Instruments: Presentation" was 

supplemented with clarifications. Furthermore, additional disclosure regulations 

for financial instruments offset were included in IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures". 

  

The amendments to IAS 32 are to be applied retrospectively to financial years 

which begin on or after 1 January 2014. The amendments to IFRS 7 are to be ap-

plied retrospectively to financial years which begin on or after 1 January 2013. 

 

The amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 will probably not have any fundamental 

relevance for the company. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12: Transitional Provisions 

 

The aim of the amendments is to provide clarification of the transitional provi-

sions in IFRS 10. The amendments also include additional simplifications for the 

transition to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. In this regard, adjusted comparative 

information is solely required for the previous comparable periods. Furthermore 

in connection with disclosures in the notes relating to unconsolidated structured 

entities, the obligation has been waived to disclose comparative information for 

periods occurring prior to the first application of IFRS 12. 

 

The amendments are applicable to reporting years commencing on or after 1 

January 2014. 

 

The application of these amendments will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 
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Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12: Investment Entities 

 

On 31 October 2012, the IASB published its announcement on investment enti-

ties (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27). 

 

With the announcement, IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements", IFRS 12 

"Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities" and IAS 27 "Separate Financial State-

ments" are amended in order to grant newly defined investment entities an ex-

ception from the consolidation regulations with regard to certain subsidiaries. 

Instead, the subsidiaries concerned are to be reported affecting net income on 

the balance sheet at the fair value as per IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" or IAS 39 

"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". 

 

The amendments are applicable to reporting years commencing on or after 1 

January 2014. 

 

These amendments were not yet adopted as binding by the EU at the point in 

time when the financial statements were prepared. 

 

The application of these amendments will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

2.7  Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to be Applied 

Manditorily in Future Reporting Periods (Standards Issued but Not Yet Ob-

ligatory) 

 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

 

In May 2014, the IASB published IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Custom-

ers". The standard introduces a single five-step analysis model to be applied to 

all contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recog-

nizes revenue at the point in time of the transfer of goods or services to custom-
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ers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity can expect to 

be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The principles in IFRS 15 

provide a structured approach to measuring and recognizing sales revenues. The 

standard replaces all current regulations concerning the revenue recognition ar-

ea (IAS 11 "Construction Contracts", IAS 18 "Revenue", IFRIC 13 "Customer Loyal-

ty Programmes", IFRIC 15 "Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate", 

IFRIC 18 "Transfers of Assets from Customers" and SIC 31 "Revenue – Barter 

Transactions Involving Advertising Services"). Furthermore, the disclosure re-

quirements have been extended. 

 

IFRS 15 is initially applicable to financial years commencing on or after 1 January 

2017. The standard is to be applied retrospectively. An early application is per-

mitted. 

 

IFRS 15 has not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when 

the financial statements were prepared. 

 

The assessment of the impacts from the application of IFRS 15 on the consoli-

dated financial statements has not yet been concluded. 

 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments  

 

The IASB issued a new IFRS on 12 November 2009 on the classification and 

measurement of financial instruments. The publication constituted the conclu-

sion of the first part of a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 "Financial Instru-

ments: Recognition and Measurement" with a new standard. With IFRS 9, new 

regulations for the classification and measurement of financial instruments have 

been introduced.  

 

The regulations currently have no set date of application. IFRS 9 has not yet been 

adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when the financial statements 

were prepared. 
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It is not possible to provide a comment at the present point in time on the poten-

tial impacts the new standard will have on the net worth, financial and earnings 

position of the company. 

 

Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sales or Contributions of Assets Be-

tween an Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture 

 

The amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was issued in September 2014. It is con-

cerned with the rectification of discrepancies between the regulations in IFRS 10 

and in IAS 28 in connection with the loss of control over a subsidiary that an as-

sociate or joint venture has contributed. The amendment clarifies that an inves-

tor recognizes the complete gain or loss from the disposal or contribution of as-

sets in an associate or joint venture, provided the assets represent a business 

operation in the meaning of IFRS 3 "Business Combinations". Where, following 

the loss of control, an entity retains a share in a former subsidiary which is not a 

business operation in the meaning of IFRS 3, the gain or loss from the new 

measurement of the remaining share is to be recognized at fair value corre-

sponding only to the shares of the other independent shareholders. The 

amendment is to be applied prospectively. 

 

The amendment is to first be applied to transactions which are implemented in a 

financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2016. An early application is 

permitted. The amendment has not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at 

the point in time when the financial statements were prepared. 

 

The application of this amendment will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendment to IFRS 11 – Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations 

 

The amendment to IFRS 11 was issued in May 2014. The amendment prescribes 

that a joint operator, which reports on their balance sheet the acquisition of an 

interest in a joint operation which concerns a business combination in the mean-
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ing of IFRS, is to apply the corresponding principles for the balance sheet report-

ing as per IFRS 3 and other standards and to disclose the details required in the-

se standards. Furthermore, it clarifies that an interest held to date in a joint op-

eration is not to be newly measured when a further interest in the same joint 

operation is acquired with the retention of the joint management. Moreover, an 

exception to the application scope has been included which is intended to pro-

vide in a precise form that the amendment is not applicable when the parties 

(including the reporting entity) which share the joint management are under the 

joint control of one party. The amendment concerns both the initial acquisition 

of interests in a joint operation, as well as the acquisition of further interests in 

the same joint operation. The amendment is to be applied prospectively. 

 

The amendment is to first be applied in a financial year commencing on or after 

1 January 2016. An early application is permitted. The amendment has not yet 

been adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when the financial state-

ments were prepared. 

 

The application of this amendment will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendment to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 

 

The IASB has issued the first amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial 

Statements " as part of its overall "disclosure initiative" project on assessing and 

improving the presentation and disclosure requirements. This covers limited 

amendments intended to encourage the entities to exercise more judgement in 

the disclosure and presentation of information. This concerns e.g. the clarifica-

tion that materiality applies to the whole financial statements and that the dis-

closure of information which is not material can limit the usefulness of financial 

information. Furthermore, more judgement should also be exercised with regard 

to the positions in the financial statements and the information sequence.  
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The amendments are to be applied manditorily to financial years commencing 

on or after 1 January 2016. An early application is permitted. The amendment 

has not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when the fi-

nancial statements were prepared. 

 

As the amendment to IAS 12 solely concerns disclosure obligations, there are no 

impacts on the net worth, financial and earnings position of the company. 

 

Amendment to IAS 19 – Employee Contributions 

 

The amendment to IAS 19 was issued in November 2013. The amendment regu-

lates the recognition of contributions from employees or third parties to a pen-

sion plan as a reduction in the service costs, provided these reflect the service 

rendered in the reporting periods. 

 

The amendments are to be applied manditorily to financial years commencing 

on or after 1 January 2014. An early application is permitted. The amendment 

has not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when the fi-

nancial statements were prepared. 

 

The application of this amendment will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendment to IAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 

 

The amendment to IAS 27 was issued in August 2014. The amendment is intend-

ed to reinstate the application of the equity method in separate financial state-

ments, through which an investor's interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates are to be either measured at amortized acquisition costs in conformi-

ty with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 respectively, or with the equity method. The method 

selected is to be applied uniformly to every category of interests. 
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The amendments are to be applied manditorily to financial years commencing 

on or after 1 January 2016. An early application is permitted. The amendment 

has not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at the point in time when the fi-

nancial statements were prepared. 

 

The application of this amendment will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

Improvements to IFRSs (2010-2012)  

Improvements to IFRSs (2012-2014) 

 

The 2010-2012 and 2012-2014 improvements to IFRSs respectively are related to 

collective standards which were published in December 2013 and in September 

2014 and concern amendments to various IFRSs which are to be applied pre-

dominantly in financial years commencing on or after 1 July 2014 and I January 

2016 respectively. 

 

The improvements have not yet been adopted as binding by the EU at the point 

in time when the financial statements were prepared. 

 

The application of these amendments will have no fundamental impacts on the 

consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 3: Fundamental Components of 

the Operative Result 

 
1 January –  

31 December 

(in K€) 2013 2014 

   

Depreciation 

 

 

128 105 

(included in production costs and operating expenses)   

of which: scheduled depreciation of property, plant and equipment 124 98 

of which: scheduled depreciation of intangible assets  4 7 

   

Inventories   

Inventory procurement and production costs recognized as expenses 2,421 2,684 

including: reversal of inventory write-down (previous year: impairment)  -128 166 

(included in production costs)   

   

Value adjustments on trade receivables 255 45 

(included in operating expenses, sales and marketing)   

of which: value adjustments 495 153 

of which: reversals of value adjustments -240 -108 

   

Personnel costs   

(included in production costs and operating expenses) 6,415 6,729 

including: employer's contribution to the statutory pension insurance 427 455 

including: employer's contribution to the defined contribution plan 10 15 

   

Public sector grants    

(included in the research and development expenses)  25 43 

 

The conditions linked to the public sector grants were completely fulfilled, there 

are no other potential uncertainties. 
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Note 4: Changes in the Group of     Con-

solidated Companies 

TELES NetService GmbH and DirectSat AG were merged with TELES AG – retroac-

tively to 30 June 2014 – through the entry of same in the Commercial Register 

dated 16 February 2015.  

 

Furthermore, the deletion of call media services Ltd. with its registered office in 

Cheshunt, Great Britain, occurred. This concerns the deletion of a company 

which ceased operations in a previous year. During the deconsolidation of the 

company, income at an amount of K€ 90 resulted. The deconsolidation had no 

effect on the cash and cash equivalents of TELES. 
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Note 5: Property, Plant and Equipment 

The property, plant and equipment developed as follows in the 2013 and 2014 

financial years: 

 

(in K€) Computer 

hardware 

Office and 

operating 

equipment 

Leasehold im-

provements 

Other assets Total 

Acquisition costs      

As of 31 Dec. 2012 6,454 14 681 148 7.297 

Acquisitions 50 3 0 46 99 

Disposals 33 1 0 0 34 

31 December 2013 6,470 17 681 194 7,362 

Acquisitions 67 5 0 6 78 

Disposals 5 0 0 1 6 

31 December 2014 6,532 22 681 199 7,434 

      

Depreciation      

As of 31. Dec. 2012 6,317 5 680 90 7,092 

Acquisitions 70 2 1 51 124 

Disposals 6,387 7 681 141 7,216 

31 December 2013 61 2 0 35 98 

Acquisitions 5 0 0 1 6 

Disposals 6,443 9 681 175 7,308 

      

Residual book values as of 

31. December 2013 83 9 0 53 145 

31. December 2014 89 13 0 24 126 
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Note 6: Intangible Assets 

The intangible assets developed as follows in the 2013 and 2014 financial years: 

 

(in K€) Software  

 licenses 

Total 

Acquisition costs   

As of 31 Dec. 2012 4,269 4,269 

Additions  7 7 

Disposals 7 7 

31 December 2013 4,269 4,269 

Additions 11 11 

31 December 2014 4,280 4,280 

   

Depreciation   

As of 31 Dec. 2012 4,258 4,258 

Additions 4 4 

31 December 2013 4,262 4,262 

Additions 7 7 

31 December 2014 4,269 4,269 

   

Residual book values as of 

31 December 2013 8 8 

31 December 2014 11 11 

 

 

All intangible assets have a limited useful life. 

 

The remaining period of depreciation for the material element of the software 

licenses amounts to approx. one to five years. 
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Note 7: Inventories 

The inventories consist of the following: 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Finished products 380 150 

Raw materials and supplies 1,483 729 

 1,863 879 

Including inventories which are:   

Reported at net realizable value 207 13 

Range > one year 93 255 

 

Reversals of write-downs at a total amount of K€ 128 were undertaken in 2013 

based on an extended analysis of range among others. The deduction for slow 

moving products amounted to K€ 166 in 2014. In this way, the risk from the fu-

ture technological developments in the industry has been taken into account. 

 

Note 8: Trade Receivables 

The trade receivables consist of the following:  

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Trade receivables 3,729 3,310 

Minus value adjustments on receivables 2,148 2,066 

 1,581 1,244 

 

As of 31 December 2014, the trade receivables include a non-current share at an 

amount of K€ 0 (31 December 2013: K€ 21). Please refer to Note 16 for further 

information. 
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Note 9: Other Current Assets 

The other current assets consist of the following: 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Prepayments 45 50 

Sales (VAT) tax claims 101 12 

Receivables from related parties 37 57 

Other 77 35 

 260 154 

 

 

Note 10: Equity 

The fully paid-in share capital consists of 23,304,676 no par value bearer shares 

with a computed value of € 1.00 each. 

 

Authorized Capital  

 

As of 31 December 2014, the company does not have any authorized capital 

available to it anymore. 

 

The authorized capital 2008/I was based on a resolution by the General Meeting 

of Shareholders dated 29 August 2008 and entitled the Management Board, with 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital once or sev-

eral times by up to K€ 11,652 for cash and/or contributions in kind. This authori-

zation was not availed of up to the expiry of the notice period. 

 

Conditional Capital 

 

As of 31 December 2014, the conditional capital amounts to a total of K€ 2,330, 

divided into 2,330,467 no par shares, of which: 
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Conditional capital 1997/I: K€ 1,947, divided into 1,946,591 no par shares 

Conditional capital 2000/I: K€ 384, divided into 383,876 no par shares 

 

The conditional capital I created for the first time by the 1997 ordinary General 

Meeting of Shareholders amounted to K€ 1,947 as of 31 December 2007 and 

served to fulfil options on a total of 1,946,591 no par shares. On 29 August 2008, 

the designation of the conditional capital I was adjusted to the designation in the 

Commercial Register (conditional capital 1997/I) by resolution of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. Furthermore, the purpose of the conditional capital 

1997/I was broadened to the extent that in addition to the fulfillment of convert-

ible bonds and share options issued to employees on the basis of prior resolu-

tions by the General Meetings of Shareholders, it should also serve to securitize 

such share options which have been issued to employees on the basis of the cor-

responding resolution under Agenda Item 7 of the General Meeting of Share-

holders dated 29 August 2008. The conditional capital 1997/I only becomes effec-

tive on the exercising of the conversion options for issued convertible bonds or 

in the event of the exercising of issued share options from the employees' share 

option programs. In the financial year now ended, the conditional capital 1997/I 

was not availed of due to the non-exercising of share options. 

 

Furthermore, at the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 11 July 2000, it was 

resolved to create the conditional capital III of up to K€ 1,300. This becomes ef-

fective only in the event of the exercising of share options from the employees' 

share option programs. As of 31 December 2007, the conditional capital III 

amounted to K€ 384, divided into 383,876 no par shares. The authorization reso-

lution of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 31 August 2001 to issue 

share options to Management Board members and employees of the company 

expired on 30 August 2006. On 29 August 2008, the above-mentioned authoriza-

tion resolution was revoked by a resolution of the General Meeting of Share-

holders, as was the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 28 

August 2007 with regard to the part not exercised so far at an amount of K€ 67, 

divided into 66,896 no par shares, and the purpose of the conditional capital III 

was changed to the extent that it should also serve to securitize such share op-
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tions which are issued to employees on the basis of the corresponding resolu-

tion under Agenda Item 7 of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 29 Au-

gust 2008. Moreover, its designation was changed by resolution of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders dated 28 August 2009 to conditional capital 2000/I. 

 

Treasury Stock 

 

The company does not hold any treasury stock.  

 

Capital Reserve 

 

The capital reserve includes share premiums from the issuing of shares minus 

the offsetting not affecting net income in the context of the company acquisi-

tions reported previously on the balance sheet in accordance with US-GAAP pur-

suant to the pooling of interests method. 

 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013 respectively, the capital reserve continues to 

include K€ 14,981, resulting from the redemption of a loan liability owing to a 

waiver announced by the shareholder Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH, minus K€ 10,371, resulting from a debtor warranty agreement reached 

with the shareholder in connection with the loan waiver. Please refer to Note 16 

for further information. 

 

In addition, the capital reserve includes K€ 1,939 (as of 31 December 2014 and 

2013 respectively) due to the reporting on the balance sheet of the employees' 

share option programs in accordance with IFRS 2. 

 

Measurement of Pension Obligations 

 

Furthermore, the equity has been reduced by K€ 224 (31 December 2013: K€ 

119) for actuarial losses from defined benefit obligations in accordance with IAS 

19. 
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Note 11: Other Non-current Financial 

Liabilities with Related Parties 

The other non-current financial liabilities with related parties consist of the fol-

lowing: 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Debtor warranty agreement, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH 

10,325 10,423 

other 363 397 

 10,688 10,820 

 

Please refer to Note 16 (Financial Instruments) and Note 26 (Relationships with 

Related Parties) for further information. 

 

Note 12: Accrued Income 

The amounts recorded under this item relate to accrued sales revenues from the 

provision of services. 

 

(in K€) 2013 2014 

As of 1 January 1,308 670 

Accrued in the reporting period 2,139 2,836 

Recognised in the reporting period affecting net income 2,777 3,057 

As of 31 December 670 449 
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Note 13: Other Financial Liabilities 

The other (current) financial liabilities consist of the following: 

 

 

 

 

Please refer to Note 16 (Financial Instruments) and Note 26 (Relationships with 

Related Parties) for further information. 

 

Note 14: Other Current Liabilities 

The other current liabilities consist of the following: 

 

(in T€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Date-related liabilities 579 655 

Liabilities with related parties 184 593 

Advanced payment 160 178 

Sales (VAT) tax payables 75 85 

Other 163 228 

 1,161 1,739 

 

Please refer to Note 26 for the relationships with related parties. 

 

The date-related liabilities item includes various balance sheet reporting, among 

others from the personnel and rental areas, as well as for the preparation and 

auditing of the annual financial statements. 

  

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Factoring 4 0 

 4 0 
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Note 15: Provisions 

The company reports the following provisions on the balance sheet: 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Non-current provisions 

Employee benefits in accordance with IAS 19 451 622 

 451 622 

Current provisions 

Other provisions 448 264 

 448 264 

 

The provisions consist of the following: 

 

(in K€)   

 31.12.13 Utilized Released Allocated Decon-

solidation 

31.12.14 

Non-current 

provisions 

      

Employee bene-

fits 

451 0 0 171 0 622 

Total 451 0 0 171 0 622 

Current provi-

sions 

      

Government tax 

audit 

70 60 0 0 0 10 

Litigation risks 
313 31 0 0 88 194 

Warranties 
20 17 3 15 0 15 

Other 
45 0 0 0 0 45 

Total 448 108 3 15 88 264 

       

 

The asset outflow is fundamentally expected – with the exception of the amount 

provided above as being non-current – within the next financial year. 
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15.1 Non-current Provisions – Employee Benefits 

 

The "employee benefits" provisions reported on the balance sheet consist of de-

fined benefit obligations in accordance with IAS 19. 

 

i. Severance Claims 

 

Due to the statutory provisions in Austria, employees at one of the TELES subsid-

iaries are entitled to so-called severance payments. Severance payments become 

due when an employee leaves the company for certain defined reasons. The 

amount of the statutory severance claims depends on the period of service 

worked until said employee leaves; for employees who joined the company after 

1 January 2003, the severance obligation ceases to apply. 

 

ii. Anniversary Bonus 

 

Furthermore due to a company agreement, TELES is obliged to render certain 

payments to employees of one of its subsidiaries when an anniversary occurs 

(period of the employment relationship). 
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The components of the expenses for pension benefits recognized in the income 

statement as well as the amounts reported in the balance sheet for the respec-

tive plans are presented in the following tables: 

 
 Net present value of the 

2013 Severance claims Anniversary  

obligation 

Total 

    

1 January 286 75 361 

Expenses in the reporting period 

Current service cost 20 5 25 

Interest expense 10 3 13 

Actuarial loss 0 7 7 

Subtotal included in the costs 30 15 45 

Benefits paid 0 0 0 

Other comprehensive income 

Actuarial loss 45 0 45 

Total as of 31 December 361 90 451 

 

(in K€) Barwert der 

2014 Severance claims Anniversary  

obligation 

Total 

    

1 January 361 90 451 

Expenses in the reporting period 

Current service cost 24 6 30 

Interest expense 12 3 15 

Actuarial loss 0 21 21 

Subtotal included in the costs 36 30 66 

Benefits paid 0 0 0 

Other comprehensive income 

Actuarial loss 105 0 105 

Total as of 31 December 502 120 622 

 

The actuarial loss results completely from changes to the financial assumptions. 

The projected unit credit method was applied in order to determine the extent of 

the obligation. Salary increases expected in the future, which influence the 

amount of the severance claim, were taken into consideration. The following as-

sumptions were used as a basis for determining the defined benefit obligation: 
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 2013 

(in %) 

2014 

(in %) 

Discount rate (actuarial interest rate): 

Severance claims 3.50 2.25 

Anniversary obligations 3.50 2.25 

Salary trend: 

Severance claims 3.00 3.00 

Anniversary obligations 3.00 3.00 

 

 

 2013 

(in years) 

2014 

(in years) 

Assumed retirement age (normal pensionable age): 

Severance claims   

Men 65 65 

Women 60 - 65 60 – 65 

Anniversary obligations   

Men 65 65 

Women 60 - 65 60 - 65 

Start of financing: 

Severance claims Date of entry Date of entry 

Anniversary obligations Date of entry Date of entry 

End of financing: 

Severance claims Respective time of pay-

ment 

Respective time of payment 

Anniversary obligations Respective time of pay-

ment 

Respective time of payment 

Fluctuation 

Severance claims None None 

Anniversary obligations None None 

 

 

The calculation basis for determining the severance claims and the anniversary 

obligation is the AVÖ 2008-P (Actuary Association of Austria), while the computa-

tion basis for the pension insurance is Pagler & Pagler, Employee – Generations 

Table. 

 

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for the fundamental assumptions as of 31 De-

cember 2014 was conducted as follows: 
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Interest sensitivity Current 

assumption 

Variation 1 Variation 2 

1. Interest rate 2.25 % 3.25 % 1.25 % 

2. Salary trend 3.00 % 3.00 % 3.00 % 

3. Inflation 2.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 % 

Obligation as of 31.12.2014 622 520 750 

Severance 502 416 610 

Percentage effect  -17.17 % 21.57 % 

Anniversary 
120 104 140 

Percentage effect  -13.40 % 16.36 % 

Service costs 40 33 49 

Severance 32 26 40 

Percentage effect  -17.97 % 22.71 % 

Anniversary 8 7 9 

Percentage effect  -14.16 % 17.41 % 

Expenses in the 2015 in-

come statement 

55 50 58 

Severance 44 40 47 

Percentage effect  -8.23 % 8.41 % 

Anniversary 11 10 11 

Percentage effect  -4.56 % 4.40 % 
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Sensitivity with regard to 

salary trend 

Current  

assumption 

Variation 1 Variation 2 

1. Interest rate 2.25 % 2.25 % 2.25 % 

2. Salary trend 3.00 % 3.50 % 2.50 % 

3. Inflation 2.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 % 

Obligation as of 31.12.2014 622 681 569 

Severance 502 552 457 

Percentage effect  9.93 % -8.96 % 

Anniversary 120 129 112 

Percentage effect  7.66 % -7.01 % 

Service costs 40 45 36 

Severance 32 36 29 

Percentage effect  10.98 % -9.83 % 

Anniversary 8 9 7 

Percentage effect  8.66 % -7.86 % 

Expenses in the 2015 in-

come statement 

55 60 49 

Severance 44 48 39 

Percentage effect  10.71 % -9.61 % 

Anniversary 11 12 10 

Percentage effect  8.47 % -7.69 % 

 

The sensitivity analysis provided above, based on a method which calculates the 

projected impacts on the defined benefit obligations, was the result of appropri-

ate changes to the assumptions taken at the end of the reporting period. 

 

The expected payments for the defined benefit obligations over the next few 

years are as follows: 

 

(in K€) 2014 

Within the next twelve months 12 (next reporting period) 

 
8 

Between 2 and 5 years 18 

Between 5 and 10 years 81 

Total expected payments 107 
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15.2 Current Provisions 

 

Litigation Risks 

The evaluation of the litigation risks is based on the assessments in this regard 

provided by the lawyers representing the company. Please refer to Note 25 re-

garding the fundamental legal disputes. 

 

Warranty 

The company fundamentally agrees to a warranty obligation of twelve months 

with its commercial customers for the sale of its telecommunication products, 

while in individual cases the statutory warranty period of two years applies. The 

estimated future warranty obligations for certain products are deferred to the 

point in time when the sales revenues are recognized. These provisions are 

based on historical experience and the estimation of future claims. 

 

 

Note 16: Financial Instruments 

1. Importance of Financial Instruments 

 

The company has financial instruments in the following categories: 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

   

Financial assets   

Loans and receivables 1,581 1,244 

Trade receivables 1,581 1,244 

   

 1,581 1,244 

   

Financial liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at amortized acquisition 

costs 
12,065 11,767 

Other financial liabilities (non-current) 10,688 10,820 

Trade payables 1,373 947 

Other financial liabilities (current) 4 0 

 12,065 11,767 
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The company has no financial instruments in other categories. 

 

Loans and Receivables 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Trade receivables 1,581 1,244 

 1,581 1,244 

 

 1 January – 31 December 

(in K€) 2013 2014 

Trade receivables 

Operating expenses; sales and marketing   

Value adjustments 495 153 

Reversals of value adjustments -240 -108 

Trade receivables; operating expenses 255 45 

 

 

Trade Receivables 

  

The trade receivables reported on the balance sheet as of 31 December 2014 

almost exclusively concern those from the corporate customer business area (as 

a rule, contracts are concluded with medium-sized enterprises). These receiva-

bles are fundamentally measured on an individual basis. The first indication of 

the existence of any impairment is initially the circumstance of the non-

fulfillment of the contractually agreed payment conditions. When a default in 

payment occurs, the reasons are evaluated in a further step and an assessment 

is made with regard to the ability to remedy these. Based on this, the trade re-

ceivables are value adjusted on an individual basis. 

 

The value adjustment account for trade receivables has developed as follows: 

 

 31 December 

 2013 Used Released Allocated 
Currency 

differences 
Reclassified 2014 

Value adjustments 

of trade receivables 
2,148 -127 -108 153 0 0 2,066 
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Regarding the creditworthiness of trade receivables which are neither in default 

nor value adjusted, please refer to the details provided below on the credit risk. 

 

The trade receivables reported on the balance sheet reporting date include 

those where a delay in payment has occurred, but which are not regarded as be-

ing impaired: 

 

(in K€)  Payment delay 

 No payment 

delay, no im-

pairment 

<= 3 

months 

> 3 and 

<= 6 

months 

> 6 

months 

and <= 1 

year 

> 1 

year 

Total 

31 December 

2013 

1,042 496 31 12 0 1,581 

31 December 

2014 

961 182 74 11 16 1,244 

 

The fair value of the trade receivables corresponds to their carrying amounts. 

Please refer to Note 8 for further information. 

 

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Acquisition Costs 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Debtor warranty agreement, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH; non-current 
10,325 10,423 

Trade payables 1,373 947 

Factoring 4 0 

Other  363 397 

 12,065 11,767 

 

(in K€) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Financing expenses; interest   

Factoring 4 0 

Other 36 47 

 40 47 

 

In previous financial years, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

waived the loans which were granted to the company. As of 31 December 2014, 

the company has reported on its balance sheet a financial liability which results 
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from the debtor warranty agreement reached in connection with the waivers of 

loans in the 2009, 2010 and most recently 2011 financial years. The reinstate-

ment of the liability is fundamentally linked to a positives result (EBITDA), as well 

as to the availability of a defined "free cash flow". The first measurement of the 

liability occurred at the fair value. The fair value was – due to a lack of market-

related values – determined by means of a discounted cash flow method. The 

updating occurs at the amortized acquisition costs. 

 

The updating occurs at the amortized acquisition costs taking into account the 

expected cash flows (IAS 39-AG8) on the basis of the budget planning currently 

approved by the Supervisory Board. As a result of the measurement with the dis-

count rate close to the market, the carrying amount fundamentally corresponds 

to the fair value of the liability. In order to measure the fair value, the liability 

from the debtor warranty is to be classified in the fair value hierarchy level 3 (and 

not the input parameter observable on the market). 

 

The cash inflow can be viewed in the consolidated cash flow statement under the 

item "Loans from related parties". 

 

Factoring 

 

The company has concluded a contract with Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (factor) on the basis of which TELES can offer the 

factor contractually defined trade receivables for purchase. The purchase price 

which is to be paid by the factor to TELES is calculated from the nominal value of 

the purchased receivable of TELES with its customers minus the factoring charge 

at an amount of 1 % of the nominal value of the receivable. 

 

Trade Payables 

 

The payables reported on the balance sheet reporting date are primarily due 

within one month. 
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Interest Income and Expenses for Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured 

at Fair Value Affecting Net Income 

 

(in K€) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Interest income 0 0 

   

Interest expenses   

Cash credit lines drawn down during the year 0 0 

Loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 36 45 

Factoring, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH 
4 0 

 40 45 

 

Expenses from charges were incurred in connection with the processing of bank 

transactions (K€ 15; previous year: K€ 23). 

 

 

2. Risks from Financial Instruments 

  

TELES utilizes a range of coordinated risk management and control systems; the-

se serve among others to identify, measure and control risks from financial in-

struments. Risk positions can fundamentally arise in the form of credit and li-

quidity risks, as well as market risks. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

The default risks of the company are limited to a customary business risk which 

is taken into account by the formation of value adjustments. Fundamentally with 

new customers, their creditworthiness is assessed based on customary market 

information, while this occurs with existing customers on a regular basis. Fur-

thermore, where possible and required, prepayments are utilized. Moreover with 

foreign business, and especially with non-European business, standard market 

payment letters of credit or payment guarantees are agreed. In individual cases, 

such as that described below for instance in connection with the sales partner, 

more detailed assessments of the economic circumstances are conducted. 
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In the 2014 financial year, TELES generated a revenue share of approx. 15% with the 

largest individual customer (segment Access Solutions), while approx. 13% of the reve-

nues in total was gained with the next two biggest customers. The additional sales reve-

nues and the trade receivables resulting from same are widely spread. In individual cas-

es and to the extent that this was required to enter into such risk exposures/obligations 

with a view to the amounts as well as the payment targets and their ongoing measure-

ment, TELES conducted detailed assessments of the economic circumstances on the 

basis of current actual figures as well as more in-depth information about the customers. 

 

The maximum default risk results from the carrying amounts of the receivables. 

 

The liquid funds are fundamentally invested with two reputable financial institu-

tions. There is no default risk in this case. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Group-wide financial control instruments, and especially weekly liquidity reports, 

are utilized for monitoring and controlling the liquidity risk. 

 

Market Risks 

 

1. Foreign Currency Risks 

Fluctuations in exchange rates can lead to unwanted and unforeseeable volatili-

ties in the result and the cash flow. The risk is reduced by settling business 

transactions in the functional currency whenever possible. Future changes in ex-

change rates can have impacts on prices for products and services and lead to 

changes in the profit margins. TELES currently reports foreign currency receiva-

bles at an amount of  KUS$ 78 and liabilities at an amount of KUS$ 241 on its 

balance sheet. If the exchange rate used as a basis on the balance sheet report-

ing date changes by 10% upwards (or downwards) this impacts with a reduction 

(or increase) on the balance sheet measurement of the receivables at K€ 6 (K€ 7). 
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2. Interest Rate Risk 

For TELES, the risk arising from a change in the interest rate results solely from 

interest-bearing investments. In terms of the TELES investment strategy, liquidity 

aspects are fundamentally to the fore, i.e. the repayment ability of these invest-

ments. 

 

3. Exchange Risk 

TELES currently doe not report any investments in listed shares on its balance 

sheet, for which reason the company is not exposed to an exchange risk.  

 

 

Note 17: Composition of the Sales 

Revenue and Production Costs 

(in K€) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Sales revenue 10,701 11,446 

Products 7,520 8,089 

Services 3,181 3,357 

Production costs 4,552 5,068 

 Products 2,975 3,275 

Services 1,577 1,793 

 

 

Note 18: Other Income and Expenses 

The other income fundamentally includes income for the 2014 financial year 

from depreciated receivables (K€ 150, previous year: K€ 143), income from the 

deconsolidation (K€ 90, previous year: K€ 0), and the release of provisions (K€ 3, 

previous year: K€ 788). 

 

The other expenses fundamentally include currency translation losses for the 

2014 financial year at an amount of K€ 486 (previous year: K€ 77). 
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Note 19: Financial Result and Other 

Shareholdings Result 

The following table shows the composition of the financial income and expenses, 

as well as the other shareholdings result: 

(in K€) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Financial income   

Dividends, GRAVIS AG 340 15 

Interest 19 6 

Total 359 21 

Financial expenses   

Interest on loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH 
36 45 

Interest on factoring, Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 
4 0 

Interest, subsequent measurement of debtor warranty 

agreement 

195 97 

Other 0 2 

Total 235 144 

Other shareholdings result   

Disposal of the shares in GRAVIS AG 1,081 0 

Total 1,081 0 
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Note 20: Discontinued Operations 

The action filed against freenet AG at the end of 2012 for payment of a residual 

amount of the purchase price for the assignment which occurred in 2005 of 

STRATO AG to freenet AG was ended by an out-of-court settlement in mid 2013. 

With the fulfillment of the settlement in 2013, all reciprocal claims resulting from 

the contribution contract have been settled and the process has been wound up 

completely. 

 

The result of the discontinued operations is presented as follows: 

 

(in K€, except for share-related information) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Result from discontinued operations, before taxes 
519 0 

   

Income tax expense 129 0 

   

Result from discontinued operations, after taxes 648 0 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating 

the gain (loss) per share 
  

Undiluted 23,304,676 23,304,676 

Diluted 23,304,676 23,304,676 

Result from discontinued operations per share:   

Undiluted 0.03 0.00 

Diluted 0.03 0.00 

 

The result from discontinued operations in 2013 is related to the release of the 

provisions from the disposal of the company as well as the release of provisions 

for taxes on income from the settlement with freenet AG. A capital outflow at an 

amount of K€ 207 resulted in the 2013 financial year from this winding up of the 

original transaction.  
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Note 21: Taxes on Income 

The result before taxes on income is broken down as follows: 

 

(in K€) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Germany 820 -1,182 

Other countries -232 -598 

Result before taxes on income 588 -1,780 

 

The expenses and income from the taxes on income include: 

 

(in K€) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Current taxes   

Germany -879 -12 

Other countries 1 7 

Total: -878 -5 

Deferred taxes   

Germany 12 0 

Other countries 0 0 

Total: 12 0 

   

Income tax expense: -865 -5 

 

 

The total tax burden of TELES since the 2008 corporate tax reform became effec-

tive amounts to approx. 30.2% (corporate income tax including solidarity sur-

charge of 15.8%; trade tax 14.4%). 

 

The following table shows the fundamental differences between the effective tax 

expenses of the group and the expenses in accordance with German tax law at 

an effective tax rate of approx. 30.2%: 
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(in K€) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Result before taxes on income (continuing and discontinued 

operations) 

588 -1,780 

Income tax expense and/or income at statutory tax rate 177 -537 

Tax rate differences -28 16 

Difference due to non-deductible items 11 11 

Non-recognized deferred tax assets   361 491 

Receivable waiver 59 29 

Tax items not related to the period -890 -11 

Effects from shareholdings held and/or disposed of -556 -4 

Other items, net 1 0 

Effective income tax expense -865 -5 

 

The tax effects arising from temporary differences which cause the deferred tax-

es are: 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

   

Deferred tax assets:   

Losses carried forward 9 8 

Deferred tax assets, total 

 

9 8 

   

Offset with deferred tax liabilities -9 -8 

   

Reported on the balance sheet 0 0 

   

 

Deferred tax liabilities:   

Other 9 8 

Deferred tax liabilities, total 9 8 

   

Offset with deferred tax assets -9 -8 

   

Reported on the balance sheet 0 0 

   

Deferred taxes, net 0 0 

 

Losses carried forward from active companies, for which balance sheet reporting 

of the deferred tax claim was omitted because they cannot be realized, relate at 

K€ 70,699 to corporate income tax and at K€ 76,661 to trade tax in Germany, as 

well as at K€ 7,809 to corporate taxes in other countries. 
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Furthermore, the balance sheet reporting of a deferred tax claim on losses car-

ried forward with non-active companies at an amount of approx. € 10 million 

was omitted, as this is also considered to be unrealizable. 

 

 

Note 22: Employees' Share Option 

Programs 

 

TELES AG implemented employees' share option programs in 1998 and 1999, as 

well as in 2001, 2002, 2004 and 2005, in which the company has surrendered eq-

uity instruments. The consideration, should they be exercised, is also equity in-

struments. It is envisaged in all programs that the exercising of equity instru-

ments may only occur on the achievement of certain performance targets: The 

average price development of a share of the company in the reference period 

has to exceed the average development of the reference index in the same peri-

od of time by at least ten percentage points per annum (performance hurdle). 

 

The option programs in 1998, 1999, 2001 and 2002 envisaged that 70% of the 

options granted can be exercised in any case. The remaining 30% can only be 

exercised provided the employees do not dispose of any subscribed shares up to 

the last year of the term ("bonus share"). The programs in 2004 and 2005 do not 

envisage any bonus regulation. 

 

The subscription rights can be exercised for the last time eight to ten years after 

their being issued. The 1998, 1999, 2001 and 2002 option programs have ex-

pired. 

 

Due to the capital reduction passed by resolution at the extraordinary General 

Meeting of Shareholders in 2004, the computed nominal value of the share op-
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tions granted up to and including 2004 in the context of the employees' share 

option programs was reduced from € 2.00 to € 1.00. 

 

The individual components of the still active programs are described below: 

 

2005 Employees' Share Option Program 

 

On 22 November 2005, 295,290 options were issued to employees by the com-

pany in the context of the authorization granted by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders on 2 April 2004. The conditional capital I serves to fulfil the options 

issued in accordance with the resolutions passed in the above-mentioned Gen-

eral Meeting of Shareholders. 

 

Each option grants the right to subscribe to a single no par share with a comput-

ed nominal value of € 1.00 per share for a subscription price at an amount of € 

6.98 per share. The option rights can be exercised in instalments; the exercising 

can begin no earlier than two years after the issuing and be completed after six 

years. 

 

The latest possible time for exercising the options is 21 November 2015. 

 

The condition for the exercising of the option rights in the programs is that the 

average price development of a share of the company in a reference period ex-

ceeds the average development of the reference index in the same period of 

time by at least ten percentage points per annum (performance hurdle). The ref-

erence period begins on the date after the conclusion of the option agreement 

and lasts until the date at which the party entitled to participate declares the ex-

ercising of the option. The average price development is calculated from the 

arithmetic average of the official closing prices determined in the Xetra-trade for 

a company share over the last ten trading days prior to the issuing the option 

rights and the last ten trading days prior to the date on which the party entitled 

to participate declares the exercising of the option. The average development of 

the reference index is calculated accordingly. The reference index is either the 
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TECDAX (the NEMAX 50 respectively) or the DAX, depending on which index de-

velops better in the reference period. If the performance target has been 

reached once for a nonlapsable option, it remains capable of being exercised 

even if at the time when it is exercised the respective performance target is no 

longer reached. 

 

The option conditions include a limitation on the exercising in connection with 

the occurrence of extraordinary, unforeseeable developments. 

 

 

Development of the Stock of Share Options from Employees' Share Option 

Programs 

 

The stock of share options issued in the context of the employees' share option 

programs has developed as follows: 

 

 Employees' share option program 

Share options 2004 2005 Summe 

    

In circulation as of 31 December 2012 371,969 137,361 509,330 

Issued 0 0 0 

Exercised 0 0 0 

Forfeited 0 0 0 

End of program term 0 0 0 

In circulation as of 31 December 2013 371,969 137,361 509,330 

Issued 0 0 0 

Exercised 0 0 0 

Forfeited 0 0 0 

End of program term -371,969 0 -371.969 

In circulation as of 31 December 2014 0 137,361 137,361 

    

Nonlapsable rights as of 31 December 2014 0 137,361 137,361 

 

 

2004 Employees' Share Option Program 
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The employees' share option program applied in 2004 consisted of two partial 

programs; partial program 1 expired on 16 August 2010 and partial program 2 

expired on 16 August 2014. 

 

Note 23: Result per Share 

The following table shows the calculation of the undiluted and diluted result per 

ordinary share attributable to the shareholders of the parent company: 

 

(in K€, except for share-related information) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Annual result attributable to parent company 

shareholders 

1,453 -1,775 

Weighted average number of shares to calculate 

the result per share 

  

 Undiluted 23,304,676 23,304,676 

 Diluted 23,304,676 23,304,676 

Result per share   

 Undiluted 0.06 -0,08 

 Diluted 0.06 -0,08 

 

Note 24: Restrictions on Availability, 

Other Financial Obligations and Con-

tingent Liabilities 

Restrictions on Availability 

 

Liquid funds of the company at an amount of K€ 146 (previous year: K€ 147) on 

the balance sheet reporting date are subject to a restriction on availability (rental 

collateral). 
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Rental and Leasing Obligations 

 

The company rents buildings, vehicles, storage facilities and certain office 

equipment in the context of non-terminable leasing agreements without an op-

tion to buy. The leasing agreements for offices are limited to 31 January 2017 at 

the latest and partly include extension options. The costs for rental agreements 

(operating lease) amounted to K€ 521 and K€ 528 respectively for the financial 

years ending on 31 December 2014 and 2013. 

 

Future minimum payments in the context of the non-terminable rental agree-

ments with initial terms of one year or longer amount to:  

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Up to one year 749 700 

Between one and five years 1,044 675 

Total 1,793 1,375 

 

 

Financial Obligations from Other Contracts 

 

Future minimum payments resulting from legally valid agreements amount to: 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Sonstige Dienstleistungen 304 518 

Wartung 6 10 

Summe 310 528 

 

 

Contingent Liabilities 

 

Loans from the majority shareholder already extended, as well as those already 

contractually agreed but not yet extended, are secured with a global assignment 

on the trade receivables. 
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Note 25: Legal Disputes 

The company is a party to court proceedings and legal disputes which occur in 

customary business transactions. The company fundamentally forms provisions 

for corresponding cases when the assertion of a claim is probable and an 

amount can be estimated. 

 

The status of the "skyDSL patent infringement proceedings" (against Deutsche 

Telekom AG and SES ASTRAnet S.A.) is unchanged, for which reason please refer 

to the 2009 notes to the consolidated financial statements. With regard to the 

utility model deletion action, it was found in the last instance in November 2011 

that the utility model did not have any effect from the beginning. In December 

2011, Deutsche Telekom AG filed a nullity action against the German skyDSL pa-

tent. In the first instance, the patent was declared null and invalid by the German 

Federal Patent Court in May 2013. TELES AG filed an appeal against the judge-

ment in September 2013 to the German Federal Court of Justice. A summons to 

the hearing is not expected until 2015. 

 

Any comment of the status of the patent lawsuits reported in earlier years has 

been waived since 2009, because – as already detailed in the 2008 consolidated 

financial statements – the majority shareholder (SSBG = Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH) assumed all costs in connection with the patent 

lawsuits effective as of 1 January 2009; SSBG and TELES are to participate in the 

results of the IntraStar patent disputes. 

 

 

Note 26: Relationships with Related 

Parties 

The following fundamental business transactions were conducted between the 

group and related parties: 
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Controlling Company, Companies Under Common Control 

 

Loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

In previous financial years, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

waived loans which were granted to the company. As of 31 December 2014, the 

company has reported on its balance sheet a financial liability which results from 

the debtor warranty agreement reached in connection with the loan waivers in 

the 2009, 2010 and 2011 financial years. The first measurement of the liability 

occurred at the fair value. The fair value was – due to a lack of market-related 

values – determined by means of a discounted cash flow method. The updating 

occurs at the amortized acquisition costs. Please refer to Note 16 for further in-

formation. 

 

The reinstatement of the liability is fundamentally linked to a positives result 

(EBITDA), as well as to the availability of a defined "free cash flow". The first 

measurement of the liability occurred at the fair value. In the event of the rein-

statement of the debtor warranty agreement, the amounts deferred to date are 

to bear interest at 12%. 

 

Drawing Down of Loans 

In order to be able to satisfy any potential financial shortfalls, in March 2014 the 

majority shareholder assumed the obligation by means of a further loan com-

mitment at an amount of K€ 800 – in addition to the resources already provided 

– to grant additional financial resources to the extent named for the existing fi-

nancial requirements. The company drew down this loan commitment at an 

amount of K€ 400 in the 2014 financial year. 

 

Factoring 

 

The company has concluded a factoring contract with Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (factor), according to which TELES can offer con-

tractually defined trade receivables to the factor for purchase. The purchase 

price to be paid by the factor to TELES is calculated from the nominal value of the 
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purchased TELES receivable from its customer minus the factoring fee at an 

amount of 1% of the nominal value of the receivable. The company has reported 

on its balance reporting date a liability at an amount of K€ 0 (previous year: 

K€ 4); during the financial year, the company incurred financial expenses at an 

amount of K€ 0 (previous year: K€ 4). 

 

Please refer to Note 13 (Other Financial Liabilities) and to Note 16 (Financial In-

struments) for further information. 

 

Patent Assignment Contract 

Contractually defined patents were sold to Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH in 2009, while at the same time it assumed all costs 

in connection with the patent legal disputes effective as of 1 January 2009; SSBG 

and TELES are to participate in the results of the patent legal disputes concerned. 

 

Agency Agreement 

In the context of an agency agreement concluded with Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, TELES AG provides various services for Sigram 

Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, for companies associated with it, as well 

as for the Sigram Schindler Stiftung foundation. 

 

On the balance sheet reporting date, the company reported receivables at an 

amount of K€ 50 (previous year: K€ 32) from Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH and companies associated with it; the receivables 

have been settled in the 2015 financial year. Please refer to Note 9 for further 

information. 
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Management Board, Supervisory Board 

 

Management Board Remuneration: 

 (in K€) 1 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

 Fixed Variable Fixed Variable 

Oliver Olbrich 215 18 225 0 

Thomas Roll  56 10 0 0 

 271 28 225 0 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Schindler received remuneration at an amount of K€ 40 (pre-

vious year: K€ 41) corresponding to a benefit in kind for the provision of a motor 

vehicle. 

 

Mr. Roll: Total remuneration for the period from 1 January to 30 April 2013. 

 

Share Portfolio and Subscription Rights of the Management Board Mem-

bers as of 31 December 2014: 

 

 Subscription rights Shares 

Professor Dr. - Ing. Sigram Schindler (di-

rectly and indirectly) 
0 13,678,442 

 0 13,678,442 

 

Share Portfolio and Subscription Rights of the Management Board Mem-

bers as of 31 December 2013: 

 

 Subscription rights Shares 

Professor Dr. - Ing. Sigram Schindler (di-

rectly and indirectly) 
0 13,678,442 

 0 13,678,442 

 

As of 31 December 2014, Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler directly and indi-

rectly held 58.70% (previous year: 58.61%) of the shares in TELES AG; 57.18% 

(previous year: 57.09%) of the shares are held by Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH; 1.46% (previous year: 1.46%) of the shares are 

held by the Sigram Schindler Stiftung foundation and a further 0.06% (previous 

year: 0.06%) are held directly by Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler. 
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Supervisory Board Remuneration: 

The representation allowance for the members of the Supervisory Board 

amounted to K€ 75.0 in the financial year now ended (previous year: K€ 75.0). 
 

(in K€) 01 January - 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Prof. Dr. Walter Rust 37.5 37.5 

Prof. Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin 22.5 22.5 

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Oec. Thomas Schildhauer 9.1 15.0 

Prof. Dr. Ernst Denert 5.9 0.0 

 75.0 75.0 

 

Company Liabilities with Related Persons: 

(in K€) 01. Januar - 31. Dezember 

 2013 2014 

Debtor warranty agreement 10.325 10.423 

SSBG shareholder 58 0 

Supervisory Board members for services 127 160 

SSBG factoring 4 0 

SSBG loans 253 687 

SSBG abandonment of loan repayment claim  109 120 

Total 10.876 11.390 

 

Note 27: Segment Reporting 

In accordance with IFRS 8, the internal control of the company represents the 

basis for the segment reporting (management approach). The external segment 

reporting occurs on the basis of the internal organizational and management 

structure, as well as the internal financial reporting coordinated with this to the 

highest management body (chief operating decision maker). The internal organi-

zational and management structure, as well the internal financial reporting of 

TELES coordinated with this follow a product-oriented approach. 

 

In the 2011 financial year, TELES established a business unit (profit center) struc-

ture to improve its market exploitation. This has resulted in three operative 

business areas: 
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 Access solutions 

 Carrier solutions 

 Enterprise solutions 

 

With its access solution products, TELES offers network operators, service pro-

viders, system integrators and distributors a complete product line for the transi-

tion between various communication technologies. In this way, favorably priced 

VoIP telephony can also be used with ISDN systems, while fixed line and mobile 

networks can be linked. This primarily occurs via indirect distribution channels in 

EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa), as well as North and South America. 

 

The main markets for the carrier solutions business area are in Europe and 

south-western Asia. Its products are sold to carrier network operators with their 

own infrastructure, to virtual network operators, as well as to wholesalers of TC 

services. They connect networks of all kinds and guarantee a simple transition 

between various media and signalings, such as for example ISDN and VoIP. 

 

With its enterprise solution products, network operators and TC service provid-

ers can offer IP-based telephony services to their business and retail customers, 

and thus integrate video, fax and mobile telephony, as well as the existing tele-

phone systems. A wide range of terminals from known manufacturers can be 

used with the TELES solution. Moreover, the administration of the system, which 

is already easy to manage, can be expanded using open interfaces – the basis for 

good customer service by the provider. The TELES NGN solutions are primarily 

offered in Germany, Austria and Switzerland, as well as in further European 

countries otherwise. The sales primary occur indirectly via system integrators, 

while major and reference customers are serviced directly in individual cases. 

 

In the "other business activities" category, balances are reported which result 

from an agency agreement concluded with the majority shareholder of TELES, as 

well as from a patent assignment contract also concluded with the majority 

shareholder of TELES. 
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The accounting policies applied in the segments are fundamentally the same as 

those described in Note 2 (Summary of Fundamental Accounting Policies). 

 

The performance of the operative segments is assessed on the basis of the op-

erating results (EBIT), adjusted for the other income and expenses. The financial 

result and other shareholdings result (EBT) are not included in the assessment of 

the operative segments, as these factors are controlled centrally in the group. 

 

Transactions between the segments occurred only to an insignificant extent. 

 

The following segment information is reported to the highest management body: 

 

Revenue and income in the operative segments, as 

well as other business activities (in K€) 
1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

   

Sales revenue 10,701 11,446 

Access solutions 4,248 3,653 

Carrier solutions 3,436 4,253 

Enterprise solutions 3,017 3,540 

   

EBITDA; operative -2,155 -1,319 

   

Depreciation 128 105 

   

EBIT; operativ -2,283 -1,424 

 

 



Translation – the German version is authoritative 

 

© TELES AG Informationstechnologien  Page 120 of 89 

The above-mentioned operating result can be reconciled as follows with the EBIT 

of the TELES group: 

 

Revenue and income in the operative segments, as 

well as other business activities (in K€) 
1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

   

EBIT; operative -2,283 -1,424 

   

Other income and expenses 1,147 -233 

   

EBIT TELES group -1,136 -1,657 

   

Financial income 359 21 

Financial expenses 235 144 

Other shareholdings result 1,081 0 

   

EBT TELES group 

(Result before taxes on income from continuing operations) 

69 -1,780 

 

 

 

Access Solutions: 
 

Revenue and income per segment (in K€) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Sales revenue 4,248 3,653 

   

Production costs 2,144 2,285 

including: depreciation 8 8 

   

Gross profit 2,104 1,368 

Gross profit margin 50% 41% 

   

Sales and marketing expenses 1.332 996 

Research and development expenses 1.038 1.004 

Administration expenses 814 629 

   

EBITDA; operative -1,072 -1,252 

   

Depreciation 44 38 

   

EBIT; operative -1,123 -1,298 
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Carrier Solutions: 
 

Revenue and income per segment (in K€) 11 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Sales revenue 3,436 4,253 

   

Production costs 1,405 1,540 

including: depreciation 7 6 

   

Gross profit 2,031 2,713 

Gross profit margin 59% 64% 

   

Sales and marketing expenses 1,073 853 

Research and development expenses 836 859 

Administration expenses 655 538 

   

EBITDA; operative -526 469 

   

Depreciation 38 29 

   

EBIT; operative -571 434 

 

Enterprise Solutions: 
 

Revenue and income per segment (in K€) 1 January – 31 December 

 2013 2014 

Sales revenue 3,017 3,540 

   

Production costs 1.003 1,244 

including: depreciation 5 4 

   

Gross profit 2,014 2,296 

Gross profit margin 67 % 64% 

   

Sales and marketing expenses 1,079 1,074 

Research and development expenses 840 1,082 

Administration expenses 659 678 

   

EBITDA; operative -559 -536 

   

Depreciation 24 20 

   

EBIT; operative -589 -560 
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Information on Geographical Regions 
 

The revenues in accordance with the company's markets are represented as fol-

lows: 

(in K€) 1 January – 31 December Change 

 2013 2014 2014 vs. 2013 

    

Germany 2,059 2,080 1% 

Austria 1,561 769 -51% 

EMEA (other countries) 6,152 6,071 -1% 

NORAM & LATAM 687 2,099 205% 

APAC 242 427 76% 

    

Total 10,701 11,446 7% 

 

The revenues are allocated in line with the country of origin of the customer. 

In the access solutions segment, sales revenues are generated with one custom-

er at an amount of 47% of the segment revenue (previous year: 0%). 

Non-current Assets 

 

The non-current assets are assigned to the regions as follows: 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 

Germany 145 124 

EMEA 8 13 

Total 153 137 

 

The non-current assets are allocated in line with the registered office of the re-

spective group company. 
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Note 28: Other Information  

Services of the Auditing Company 

 

As in the previous year, the Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft auditing company did not provide any further 

services to TELES AG in the financial year now ended in addition to the auditing 

activity (K€ 114). 

 

Consolidated Companies 

 

The consolidated annual financial statements include the financial statements of 

TELES AG and those of the following companies which are all 100% subsidiaries 

of TELES AG unless otherwise reported: 

 

Subsidiary Location 

TELES Communications Corp. Hillsborough, USA 

TELES France S.A.R.L.  Courbevoie, France 

TELES S.R.L.  Milan, Italy 

TELES N.G.N. Solutions Ltd. Yokneam, Israel 

TELES Communication Systems GmbH Vienna, Austria 

TELES NetSales Spain S.A. Madrid, Spain 

TCS Cloud Services GmbH Berlin, Germany 

 

 

Subsequent Events 

 

On 7 January 2015, with effect from 31 December 2014, the company Sigram 

Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, as shareholder of TELES AG, declared 

subordination of claims arising from loans it had granted (TEUR 806). 

 

In both March and April 2015, sums of TEUR 200 were drawn under the umbrella 

loan agreement of 11 March 2014 with SSBG. 
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On 27 April 2015, SSBG granted to TELES another umbrella loan agreement of 

TEUR 1,000. 

 

Apart from this, no further special occurrences have arisen since the close of the 

business year. 

 

Corporate Governance Code 

 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of TELES AG have issued a com-

pliance statement in accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code 

(Sec. 161 AktG), which was released on the homepage of TELES AG in November 

2014 (www.teles.com). 

 

 

Management Board 

 

The following persons were members of the Management Board of TELES AG 

during the past year: 

 Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler, Chairman of the Management Board; 

 Oliver Olbrich, Director Operative Business. 

  

The members of the Management Board fulfilled the following internal group 

Supervisory Board mandates or mandates in comparable control bodies: 

 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler  TELES Communications Corp. 

       DirectSat AG 

 

Oliver Olbrich     DirectSat AG 
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Supervisory Board 

 

The following persons were members of the company's Supervisory Board dur-

ing the past year: 

 

Professor Dr. Walter Rust, lawyer and notary public, Berlin  

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board); 

Professor Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin, university professor, Berlin  

(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board); 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Oec. Thomas Schildhauer, university professor, Berlin. 

 

The following Supervisory Board members fulfilled further Supervisory Board 

mandates or mandates in comparable control bodies: 

 

Professor Dr. Walter Rust,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SHF Communication Technologies AG, Ber-

lin 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Fiagon AG, Hennigsdorf. 

 

Professor Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin, 

CEO of WLD Innovation Trade GmbH 

Member of the Administrative Board of Open Limit Holding AG  

Member of the Supervisory Board of EICT GmbH 

Member of the Supervisory Board of EIT ICT Labs. 

 

Professor Dr. Dr. Thomas Schildhauer, 

Member of the Supervisory Board of Stone One AG, Berlin 

Member of the Supervisory Board of bluechip Computer AG, Meuselwitz. 

 

 

 

Berlin, dated 28 April 2015 
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List of Abbreviations 

 

AG German stock corporation 

AktG German Stock Corporation Law 

APAC Asia-Pacific 

DRS German accounting standard 

DRSC Accounting Standards Committee of Germany (ASCG) 

EITF Emerging Issues Task Force 

EMEA Europe, Middle East, Africa 

ESOP Employees' Share Option Program 

EStG German Income Tax Act 

FIFO First in, first out 

GmbH German limited liability company 

HGB German Commercial Code 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard 

LATAM Latin America 

Ltd Limited 

NORAM North America 

SIC Standing Interpretations Committee 

SPSS Sales & Post Sales Services 

SSBG Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin 

K€ Thousand euros 

KUS$ Thousand US dollars 

USGAAP United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
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Responsibility Statement by the 

Statutory Representatives 

We hereby confirm that to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with 

the applicable accounting and reporting principles, the consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the net worth, financial and earnings 

position of the group, and the group management report which has been 

combined with the management report of the company provides a presenta-

tion of the development and performance of the business and the position of 

the group such that it gives a true and fair view of the group, together with a 

description of the fundamental opportunities and risks associated with the ex-

pected development of the group. 

 

Berlin,  28 April 2015 

 

TELES Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien 

The Management Board 

 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler 

Oliver Olbrich 
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Audit opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by TELES 

Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien, Berlin – comprising the balance 

sheet, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the 

statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements – together with the combined management 

report for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2014. The preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management re-

port in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional re-

quirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB 

[“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] is the responsibility of the 

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements and the combined management report 

based on our audit.  

 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with Sec. 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards for the audit of 

financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Insti-

tute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the 

presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in 

the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-

cial reporting framework and in the combined management report are detect-

ed with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 

economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible 

misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit proce-

dures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial state-

ments and the combined management report are examined primarily on a test 
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basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the an-

nual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the de-

termination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and con-

solidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments and the combined management report. We believe that our audit pro-

vides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

  

Our audit has not led to any reservations. 

 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial 

statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional re-

quirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB and give 

a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of opera-

tions of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The combined 

management report of the Company and the Group is consistent with the con-

solidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the 

Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future 

development.  

 

Without qualifying this opinion, we draw attention to the management board’s 

comments in the section entitled “Financing/going concern” in the combined 

management report. This section states that the majority shareholder made a 

further loan commitment of EUR 1.0m, in addition to the loans already grant-

ed, to maintain the Company’s solvency. The Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern depends on it achieving its planned revenue targets and on the 

outstanding funds from the loan commitment by the majority shareholder be-

ing sufficient or will be increased if necessary. 

 

Berlin, 28 April 2015 
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Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

(signed) (signed) 

 

Schepers Klemm 

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor] 

 

 

 


